
Due to the Declaration of a State of Emergency for the State of Maine and Town of Kittery, this 
meeting will be held remotely in accordance with LD 2167.  The meeting will be broadcast on 

Channel 22, Facebook, and live broadcast from the Town’s website. 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: (207) 475-1329 Fax: (207) 439-6806 
                                

      
KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL 

September 14, 2020  

6:00PM 

 

The public may submit public comments for the DISCUSSION agenda item via email, US Mail, 
or by dropping written comments in the Drop Box outside the Town Hall entrance.  Emailed 
comments should be sent to TownComments@kitteryme.org. 

The public may also participate in the meeting via Zoom webinar.  Register in advance for 
the webinar at: https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_oT5AKdgfSValdFPj6sEN8A 
 
After registering, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about joining the 
webinar. Webinar participants will be able to submit questions and comments during a public 
hearing.  
 
Comments received by noon on the day of the meeting will become part of the public record 
and may be read in whole or in summary by the Council Chair. 
 

      

1. Call to Order 

2. Introductory 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Roll Call   

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 

6. Town Manager’s Report   

7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes 

• March 9, 2020 - Revised 

• April 6, 2020 

• April 13, 2020 

• April 27, 2020 
 

mailto:TownComments@kitteryme.org
https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_oT5AKdgfSValdFPj6sEN8A


Due to the Declaration of a State of Emergency for the State of Maine and Town of Kittery, this 
meeting will be held remotely in accordance with LD 2167.  The meeting will be broadcast on 

Channel 22, Facebook, and live broadcast from the Town’s website. 

 

8. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town 
consultants or requested offices.  

 a.  (090120-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to receive a presentation from 
 Alexandra Duprey regarding the Flood Resiliency Plan for Kittery. 

9. PUBLIC HEARINGS - None 

10. DISCUSSION 

a.   The public may submit public comments in writing or via the Q&A feature of         
     the webinar for the DISCUSSION agenda. 

b.  Chairperson will read written comments into the record. 

c.  Chairperson’s response to public comments. 

11. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – 

 a. (090120-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to discuss the postponed Title – 6  
  public hearing. 

12. NEW BUSINESS 

a. Donations/gifts received for Council disposition - None  

b. (090120-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to establish an overlay amount of     
     $_______, resulting in a mil rate of             per mils, and to charge an interest 
 rate of 7% per annum on past due accounts and an interest rate of 3% on       
 overpayment of property taxes, and confirms the dates of October 31, 2020,    
 February 15, 2021 and May 31, 2021, as the due dates for property and personal 
 property taxes.  

c. (090120-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to accept the resignation of John 
 Duffy of the Climate Adaptation Committee.  

d. (090120-5) The Kittery Town Council moves to accept the resignation of Jean 
 Lincoln of the Kittery Community Center Board of Directors.  

13. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 

 

 



Due to the Declaration of a State of Emergency for the State of Maine and Town of Kittery, this 
meeting will be held remotely in accordance with LD 2167.  The meeting will be broadcast on 

Channel 22, Facebook, and live broadcast from the Town’s website. 

 

14. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

     a.  (090120-6) The Kittery Town Council moves to go into Executive Session with  
  the Town Manager in accordance with M.R.S Title1§405 (6) (D) to discuss           
          labor contracts.  

15. ADJOURNMENT     
         
 
Posted:  September 10, 2020 



 

 
Town Manager’s Report to the Town Council 

September 14, 2020 
 

 

1. Temporary Signs/Political Signs – I have been fielding a number of questions regarding 
temporary political signs in Town and felt a quick overview would be worthwhile.  Town Code, 
Title 16 addresses political signs (see 16.8.10.9) under the title of Temporary Signs.  In general, 
temporary political signs are allowed on private property without limitation.  Signs placed on 
public property (i.e. around Town Hall, KCC, in the public right away on roads) are allowed no 
more than 30 days prior to the election/vote/referendum and must be removed within 48 hours of 
the vote. 

To ensure compliance with this, we will begin removing SRO and BLM signs on public property 
beginning this week.  We will address the Title 6 related signs on public property following this 
meeting, in accordance with Council decision on the postponed public hearing. 

If there is contact information on the signs, we will make every effort to contact the owner.  If not, 
we will retain the signs at the Town Hall until September 30 so owners of the signs may retrieve 
them.  We will not store the signs past September 30.   

Political signs related to the upcoming election may not be placed on public property until October 
4.  Signs may not be placed in memorials including Memorial Circle.  Signs placed in the Circle 
will be removed immediately.  Signs placed in the right of way may not impede safe sightlines for 
vehicles. 

It is important to note these restrictions are specifically for signs placed on public property 
and in the public right of way only. 

2. COVID-19 Hazard Pay – Per the Council’s direction, we have developed a Hazard Pay plan for 
our first responders and essential employees that worked during the stay-at-home order this past 
spring.  The plan includes paying Police, Fire, and Dispatch personnel $5/hour, and other essential 
employees required to be physically at the job site (i.e. Public Works and Sewer) $3.50/hour for 
each hour worked at the job site from March 14 to May 9.  The State of Maine’s hazard plan 
ranges from $3 - $5 per hour.  The Town will also have to pay the ancillary costs on these wages 
including retirement contributions, FICA, and workers comp adjustments. 

Hazard pay will not be paid on hours used for paid-time-off, quarantine/FMLA, or other paid time 
not spent on the job site.  Hazard pay is a flat per hour rate and will not be adjusted for overtime 
hours. 

3. Taylor Building Proposals – Proposals for reuse of the Taylor Building are due September 15 at 
5PM.  The Taylor Building Committee is accepting concept proposals from organizations, 
community groups, businesses, and other entities or individuals to consider for the re-use, 
renovation, sale and/or development of 2 Walker Street, Kittery Maine. The intent of this invitation 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
Office of the Town Manager 

200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
kamaral@kitteryme.org  



 

is to facilitate a broad range of proposals from individuals, groups, and other entities that can bring 
a proposal to fruition.  
 
The Taylor Building Committee will review concept proposals utilizing the criteria listed in the 
IFP, along with its collective judgement consistent with the Committee’s charge. It will select a 
short list of proposals for which it will gather additional information and input.    
 

4. EV Charging Station – We have applied for the recently announced CMP grant to site two Level 
2 electric vehicle charging stations at Town Hall.  Each station has two ports.  The grant will pay 
for up to $4,000 for the procurement and installation of the stations.  CMP will be funding the 
installation of 60 total stations in the State of Maine through this grant.   
 
Level 2 chargers can provide a full charge in as little as 3 hours.  The intent will be to network the 
stations.  
 
This grant is being pursued in conjunction with pursuing rebates and prices for an electric vehicle 
to replace the existing and aged Code Enforcement vehicle.  If successful, this will introduce the 
first EV into the Town’s vehicle fleet.   

 

5. Board, Commissions, and Committees – Most of our Boards, Commissions and Committees 
have resumed their meetings and work.  We are seeking volunteers for some vacancies specifically 
the following: 
- Climate Adaptation Committee 
- Shellfish Commission 
- Parks Commission 

 

We also have a number of Boards, Commission and Committee volunteer pools that are empty or 
near empty.  Those interested in volunteering may find the application and more information on 
the Town website at kitteryme.gov or contacting the Town Clerk. 

Upcoming Dates: 

 Absentee Ballot Applications Available – Town Clerk 
 Candidate Forum – October 7, 6PM (broadcast on Channel 22) 
 Town Hall Closed – Indigenous Peoples Day – October 12 
 Presidential/State/Local Election – November 3, 8AM to 8PM, Kittery Community Center 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Kendra Amaral 
Town Manager 



nearest street measured at the closest point to the flag,
whichever is greater. A single memorial flagpole installation
sponsored by private funding not to exceed 129 feet in height
installed on Town-owned or regulated property at Memorial
Circle is allowed.

G. Religious symbols.

H. Building street numbers. In accordance with the street-
numbering map on file with the Town Assessing Department.

I. Political campaign signs. Signs bearing political messages
relating to an election, primary or referendum, provided these
signs may be displayed on:

(1) Public property not earlier than 30 days prior to the election,
primary or referendum to which they relate and are removed
not later than two days thereafter.

(2) Private property without time constraints.

J. Interior signs. Signs placed inside a building which are located at
least 10 feet inside the building or otherwise not oriented to be
viewed from outside the building.

K. Vehicular signs. Signs painted on or affixed to registered motor
vehicles or trailers where such signs are clearly incidental to the
regular transportation function of the vehicle.

L. Service club signs. Service club signs may be placed within the
right-of-way of a street with approval of the Commissioner of
Public Works. Such signs are encouraged to be consolidated on a
single designated assembly structure at major entranceways to
the Town. In addition, such signs not exceeding four square feet
in size may be erected at locations where meetings of such
service clubs are convened.

M. Real estate signs. Any sign advertising real estate for sale, lease
or rent, provided:

(1) Each sign does not exceed 12 square feet;

(2) Each sign is located on the property being advertised, except
one sign may be located as an off-premises directional sign,
provided the sign does not restrict safe sight distances or
impair safety;

(3) No more than two signs are erected per property being
advertised; and

§ 16.8.10.9 § 16.8.10.9

:2

kamaral
Highlight



 

1 | P a g e  
 

Kittery Town Council - UNAPPROVED Minutes 

Regular Meeting 

March 9, 2020 6:00 p.m. 

1. Call to Order 1 

2. Introductory 2 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 3 

4. Roll Call 4 

Councilors present: Charles Denault, Jeffrey Pelletier, Jeffery Thomson, Kenneth Lemont, 5 
Cyrus Clark, Vice Chair Matt Brock, and Chair Judith Spiller. 6 

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 7 

Public Hearings item c. Warrant Article to expand the Gorges Road Station and surplus the 8 
Walker Street Fire Station. The Town Manager gave an explanation of the withdrawal of this 9 
item from the agenda. and item d. Warrant Article to appropriate $500,000 for the Wood Island 10 
pier. Councilor Lemont stated the reason for withdrawing this item from the agenda was due to 11 
the overwhelming negative response from the public to the article. He also wanted to 12 
acknowledge WILSSA for the super job, contributing funds, and the 20 years of maintenance 13 
they would be providing. 14 

A motion was added to Unfinished Business to postpone the Public Hearing on the Animal 15 
Control ordinance, previously scheduled for March 23, 2020, to a later date. 16 

Item i. and j. were added under New Business. 17 

Chair Spiller cast 1 vote in favor of adoption of the agenda as amended.    18 

6. Town Manager’s Report 19 

The Town Manager reported on the Presidential Primary Election, and provided an update on 20 
the Town’s COVID-19 response. 21 

 Upcoming Dates: Mooring Permit Renewals Due – April 15, Harbormaster or Online. 22 

7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes 23 

The April 22, 2019 - Regular Meeting and May 6, 2019 - Special meeting minutes were 24 
approved as presented. 25 

8. Interviews for the Board of Appeals and Planning Board 26 

Board of Appeals (three appointments each expiring 12/31/2023). 27 

• April Timko 28 

 Chair Spiller moved for Ms. Timko’s re-appointment, seconded by Councilor Denault. 29 

 Motion Carried 7-0-0 30 

• Jeff Brake 31 



2 | P a g e  
 

 Chair Spiller moved for Mr. Brake’s re-appointment, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 32 

 Motion Carried 7-0-0 33 

• Barry Fitzpatrick 34 

 Chair Spiller moved for Mr. Fitzpatrick’s re-appointment, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 35 

 Motion Carried 7-0-0 36 

9. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town 37 

consultants or requested offices. 38 

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS 39 

a. (030120-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to Amend Title 3 - TIF 40 

#1 and #2. 41 

The Town Manager gave an overview of the amendment to Title 3 - TIF#1 and #2. 42 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 43 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 44 

b. (030120-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing in accordance with 45 

Sec. 06.09(4) of the Kittery Town Charter to transfer appropriations between accounts. 46 

The Town Manager gave an overview of Sec. 06.09(4) of the Kittery Town Charter to transfer 47 
appropriations between accounts. 48 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Pelletier. 49 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 50 

c. (030120-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to approve a Warrant 51 

Article to expand the Gorges Road Station and surplus the Walker Street Fire Station for the 52 

June 9, 2020 Town Meeting Secret Ballot Election and make its recommendation on the 53 

article. 54 

The warrant article was withdrawn from the agenda. 55 

d. (030120-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing to approve a Warrant 56 

Article to appropriate $500,000 for the Wood Island pier for the June 9, 2020 Town Meeting 57 

Secret Ballot Election and make its recommendation on the article. 58 

The warrant article was withdrawn from the agenda.  59 

11. DISCUSSION 60 

a. Discussion by members of the public (three minutes per person) 61 



3 | P a g e  
 

Jeffrey Brake, 28A Cutts Road, Kittery, Maine – Mr. Brake announced the Recycling 62 
Scholarship Fund would begin accepting applications March 15, 2020 and close April 16, 2020.  63 
Mr. Brake stated that the application would be available at Town Hall, the Superintendent’s 64 
office, Rice Public Library, and the guidance counselor’s office at Traip Academy. He stated that 65 
there is an opening on the Education Scholarship Committee.  66 

Cameron Wake, 18 Mendum Avenue Kittery, Maine. - Mr. Wake explained that he was opposed 67 
and had concerns regarding with the Warrant Article to appropriate $500,000 for the Wood 68 
Island pier.  69 

b. Response to public comment directed to a particular Councilor 70 

Councilor Lemont thanked Mr. Wake for his polite phone call about the Wood Island pier.  71 

c. Chairperson’s response to public comments 72 

12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – 73 

Councilor Thomson moved to postpone the Public Hearing on the Animal Control ordinance that 74 
was previously scheduled March 23, 2020 to a later date, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 75 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 76 

13. NEW BUSINESS 77 

a. Donations/gifts received for Council disposition. - None 78 

b. (030120-5) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve the disbursement warrants. 79 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Denault. 80 

Motion Carried 7-0-0  81 

c. (030120-6) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on March 23,2020 82 

to amend Title 5 to add Short Term Rentals. 83 

Moved by Councilor Pelletier, seconded by Councilor Clark. 84 

Motion Carried 5-1-0 85 

Councilor Denault, Councilor Pelletier, Councilor Clark, Councilor Lemont, Vice Chair Brock, 86 
and Chair Spiller approved. 87 

Councilor Thomson opposed. 88 

d. (030120-7) The Kittery Town Council moves to review and finalize the wording on the 89 

Warrant Articles for the June 9, 2020 Town Meeting Secret Ballot Election and make its 90 

recommendations on each article. 91 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 92 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 93 

e. (030120-8) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal Liquor License from the 94 



4 | P a g e  
 

Dance Hall located at 7 Walker Street. 95 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 96 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 97 

f. (030120-9) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal Liquor License from 98 

Maine Beer Café located at 439 US Route 1 Suite 1. 99 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 100 

Motion Carried 6-0-1 101 

Councilor Lemont abstained.  102 

g. (030120-10) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a renewal Liquor License from The 103 

View at Pepperrell Cove located at 90 Pepperrell Road. 104 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 105 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 106 

h. (030120-11) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve an Extension of License on Premise 107 
for the View at Pepperrell Cove locate at 90 Pepperrell Road. 108 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 109 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 110 

i. The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint Councilor Pelletier to the school department Vision 111 
2025 Committee. 112 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Clark. 113 

Motion Carried 6-1-0 114 

Councilor Thomson, Councilor Pelletier, Councilor Clark, Councilor Lemont, Vice Chair Brock, 115 
and Chair Spiller approved. 116 

Councilor Denault opposed. 117 

j. The Kittery Town Council moves to accept Julia O’Connell’s resignation from the Kittery 118 
Climate Adaptation Committee. 119 

Moved by Chair Spiller, seconded by Councilor Thomson. 120 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 121 

14. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 122 

Councilor Denault mentioned the cost of cable, read a quote from Teddy Roosevelt, and asked 123 
if the Council was withdrawing its letter for the Kittery Water District bill. 124 

Councilor Thomson thanked Councilor Lemont for withdrawing the motion for the Wood Island 125 
pier. He also spoke in remembrance of Graham and Jean Alvord. 126 



5 | P a g e  
 

Councilor Lemont mentioned the sidewalks, and speeding in town. Councilor Lemont asked if 127 
the Council was withdrawing the its letter for the Kittery Water District bill. Councilor Lemont 128 
also asked about parking at Fort Foster. 129 

Chair Spiller asked the Council if all were in favor of withdrawing the letter. The Council 130 
collectively responded yes, and Chair Spiller asked the Town Manager to write a letter to the 131 
Kittery Water District. 132 

Councilor Clark recognized the Love Lane residents’ petition and stated he had witnessed the 133 
traffic on many occasions and it was unacceptable. He also stated this should become a priority 134 
with the Council and should be handled outside of the Land Use Study. Councilor Clark spoke 135 
about other possible ways Kittery, as a community, could help with the Wood Island pier project. 136 

Vice Chair Brock thanked Councilor Lemont for withdrawing the motion for the Wood Island pier 137 
project, as he felt that Kittery had contributed significantly by donating land, authorizing the 138 
concession agreement, and in the future financially, due to repairs that might be needed. He 139 
also was concerned with the traffic caused by the Shipyard impacting the residents and the local 140 
businesses.  141 

15. COMMITTEE AND OTHER REPORTS 142 

a. Communications from the Chairperson - None 143 

b. Committee Reports - None 144 

16. EXECUTIVE SESSION – 145 

a. (030120-12) The Kittery Town Council moves to go into Executive Session with the Town 146 

Manager and Town Attorney in accordance with 1 M.R.S. §405 (6) (A) to discuss or 147 

consider complaints regarding appointees, where public discussion could be reasonably 148 

expected to cause damage to an individual’s reputation or right to privacy. 149 

Councilor Thomson moved to go into the Executive Session at 7:15 p.m., seconded by 150 
Councilor Pelletier. 151 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 152 

Councilor Thomson moved to come out of the Executive Session at 7:50 p.m., seconded by 153 
Councilor Denault. 154 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 155 

17. ADJOURNMENT 156 

Councilor Thomson moved to adjourn, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 157 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 

Submitted by Kim Tackett 

Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. 



6 | P a g e  
 

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the minutes are 

not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a summary of the 

discussion and actions that took place. For complete details, please refer to the video of the 

meeting on the Town of Kittery website.  



1 | P a g e  
 

KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

Special Meeting - Requested by Chairperson Spiller 

April 6, 2020 

Remote Meeting 

 

1. Call to Order 1 

2. Introductory 2 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 3 

4. Roll Call 4 

Councilors present: Charles Denault, Jeffrey Pelletier, Jeffrey Thomson, Kenneth Lemont, 5 
Cyrus Clark, Vice Chair Matt Brock, and Chair Judith Spiller.  6 

5. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees, or other town 7 
consultants or requested offices 8 

a. (040220-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to receive a presentation from the 9 
Superintendent of Schools on the FY21 School Budget.  10 

Eric Waddell, Superintendent of Schools presented the FY21 School Budget. 11 

Councilor Denault asked the Superintendent about insurance. 12 

Councilor Lemont asked the Superintendent about a merit program for teachers. 13 

Councilor Thomson asked the Superintendent if there would be a possibility of schools starting 14 
in August next year.  15 

6. DISCUSSION – Discussion is limited to the matters on the agenda for this meeting. 16 

a. Public comments will be received via email, mail, or the Town Hall Drop Box up until noon the 17 
day of the meeting. 18 

b. Chairperson will read comments into the record. - None 19 

c. Chairperson’s response to public comments - None 20 

7. NEW BUSINESS 21 

a. (040220-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to give preliminary approval on the FY21  School 22 
Budget and to schedule the Budget Validation Referendum Election for June 9, 2020. 23 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 24 

Motion Carried 7-0-0  25 

8.  ADJOURNMENT 26 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Denault. 27 



2 | P a g e  
 

 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 28 

 

 

Submitted by Kim Tackett 

Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. 

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the  minutes are 

not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a summary of the 

discussion and actions that took place. For complete details, please refer to the video of the 

meeting on the Town of Kittery website.    

     



1 | P a g e  
 

 

Kittery Town Council Unapproved Minutes 

April 13, 2020 

Regular Meeting 

Remote Meeting – 6:00 PM 

 

1. Call to Order 1 

2. Introductory 2 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 3 

4. Roll Call 4 

Councilors present: Charles Denault, Jeffrey Pelletier, Jeffrey Thomson, Kenneth Lemont, 5 
Cyrus Clark, Vice Chair Matt Brock, and Chair Judith Spiller. 6 

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 7 

Under New Business - The Kittery Town Council moves to postpone the Secret Ballot and 8 
School Budget Referendum to coincide with the State Primary Election reschedule of July 14, 9 
2020.  10 

All were in favor. 11 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 12 

6. Town Manager’s Report 13 

The Town Manager reported on: Kittery Together, State and Municipal Election/Secret Ballot, 14 
reentry plan, and the FY20 quarter 3 financial report. 15 

7. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees, or other town 16 
consultants or requested offices -  17 

8. DISCUSSION – Discussion is limited to the matters on the agenda for this meeting. 18 

a. Public comments will be received via email, mail, or the Town Hall Drop Box up until noon the 19 
day of the meeting. 20 

b. Chairperson will read comments into the record. 21 

c. Chairperson’s response to public comments. 22 

9. New Business  23 

The Kittery Town Council moves to postpone Secret Ballot and School Budget Referendum to 24 
coincide with the State Primary Election reschedule of July 14, 2020. 25 

Vice Chair Brock asked the Town Manager when absentee ballots would be available. 26 



2 | P a g e  
 

The Town Manager replied that she believed they would be available 30 days prior to the 27 
election. 28 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Denault. 29 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 30 

10. Council Issues or Comments 31 

Councilor Denault spoke about getting a closed sign for the Resource Recovery Facility and 32 
suspending recycling so residents would not linger too long at the facility. Councilor Denault 33 
also asked about hazard pay for police officers and firemen. Councilor Denault asked about the 34 
possibility of residents who would like to pay their taxes early, receiving a discount on their 35 
taxes. 36 

Chair Spiller asked the Town Manager to talk about the Resource Recovery Facility concerns, 37 
social distancing and shorter hours of operation. 38 

The Town Manager responded to Council Denault’s comments and stated that the town would 39 
get a closed sign for the Resource Recovery Facility.  The Town Manager stated that there 40 
wasn’t a need to offer a discount for paying taxes early and questioned whether the town could 41 
do it legally. 42 

Councilor Denault asked for a consensus regarding hazard pay for police officers and firemen. 43 

Councilor Lemont was in support of hazard pay for police officers and firemen. 44 

Councilor Thomson stated he was in support of hazard pay for police officers and firemen, but 45 
wanted to wait a couple of months. 46 

Councilor Clark was in support of hazard pay for police officers and firemen. 47 

Vice Chair Brock was in support of hazard pay for police officers and firemen. 48 

Chair Spiller stated she was cautiously supportive. 49 

11. Executive Session - None 50 

12. ADJOURNMENT     51 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 

Motion Carried 7-0-0  

 

Submitted by Kim Tackett 

Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. 

Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the minutes are 

not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a summary of the 

discussion and actions that took place. For complete details, please refer to the video of the 

meeting on the Town of Kittery website. 

 



1 | P a g e  
 

Kittery Town Council Unapproved Minutes 

April 27, 2020 6:00 PM 

Remote Meeting 

 

1. Call to Order 1 

2. Introductory 2 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 3 

4. Roll Call 4 

Councilors present: Charles Denault, Jeffrey Pelletier, Jeffrey Thomson, Kenneth Lemont, 5 
Cyrus Clark, Vice Chair Matt Brock, and Chair Judith Spiller. 6 

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 7 

Councilor Thomson moved to adopt the agenda as presented, seconded by Councilor Denault. 8 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 9 

6. Town Manager’s Report 10 

The Town Manager reported on: COVID-19 Update, Rice Library building project, absentee 11 
ballots and the July Election. Upcoming Dates: State Primary Election and Town Meeting Ballot 12 
– July 14. 13 

The Town Manager asked the Council for guidance on the FY21 Budget. 14 

Councilor Lemont had some questions in reference to the Rice Library project. 15 

Vice Chair Brock inquired about the process for getting an absentee ballot.  16 

7. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees, or other town 17 

consultants or requested offices - None 18 

8. DISCUSSION – Discussion is limited to the matters on the agenda for this meeting. 19 

a. Public comments will be received via email, mail, or the Town Hall Drop Box up until 20 

noon the day of the meeting. 21 

b. Chairperson will read comments into the record. 22 

Chair Spiller read a letter from Suzanne Johnson, 13 Cromwell Street Kittery, Maine. Ms. 23 
Johnson expressed her many concerns regarding COVID-19 and the town. 24 

Chair Spiller read a letter from Brian Early, 123 Rogers Road, Kittery, Maine. Mr. Early was 25 
inquiring when the landfill portion of the Resource Recovery Center would be opening. He 26 
asked why the 2019 Town Council minutes were not online. He also spoke about the discussion 27 
item on the agenda being limited to only matters on the agenda. 28 



2 | P a g e  
 

c. Chairperson’s response to public comments 29 

Chair Spiller, with the help of the Town Manager, addressed Ms. Johnson’s and Mr. Early’s 30 
concerns. 31 

9. New Business – 32 

a. (040220-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to Amend Warrant Article 4. 33 

The Town Manager gave an overview of the Amendment to Warrant Article 4. 34 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Denault. 35 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 36 

b. (040220-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve and to sign Electronically a renewal 37 
Liquor License application for Anju Noodle Bar, 7 Wallingford Square Unit 102. 38 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 39 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 40 

c. (040220-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve and to sign Electronically a renewal 41 
Liquor License application for Badger’s Island Pizza, 3 Island Avenue. 42 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 43 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 44 

d. (040920-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a Municipal Release Deed for 2 45 
Wainwright Avenue, Map/Lot 16-158. 46 

The Town Manager gave an overview of the situation regarding the Municipal Release Deed for 47 
2 Wainwright Avenue, Map/Lot 16-158. 48 

Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 49 

Motion Carried 7-0-0 50 

10. Council Issues or Comments 51 

Chair Spiller, Vice Chair Brock, Councilor Pelletier, Councilor Thomson, Councilor Clark and 52 
Councilor Lemont wanted to thank the Town Manager, the Town of Kittery staff, and First 53 
Responders for their hard work in response to COVID-19. 54 

11. Executive Session - None 55 

12. ADJOURNMENT 56 

 Moved by Councilor Thomson, seconded by Councilor Pelletier. 57 

 Motion Carried 7-0-0 58 

 

 



3 | P a g e  
 

Submitted by Kim Tackett 

Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. Whilst 

every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the minutes are not 

intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a summary of the discussion 

and actions that took place. For complete details, please refer to the video of the meeting on the 

Town of Kittery website.  



A TOWN IN HIGH WATER:
FLOOD VULNERABILITY ASSESSMENT FOR KITTERY, MAINE

By Alexandra Duprey for the Kittery Climate Adaptation Committee





COASTAL HAZARDS     CLIMATE RESILIENCE

Storm surge, erosion, flooding, 
groundwater rise, storm destruction

Environment, Economy, Equity

Adaptation: Natural and Manufactured



RISKS IN KITTERY

Vulnerable Areas:
• Residential neighborhoods
• Heavily traveled road segments and business areas
• Emergency evacuation routes
• The Portsmouth Naval Shipyard (PNSY)
• Fort Foster
• The Admiralty Village area
• Parts of Shepherds Cove senior housing
• Wood Island
• Sections of Seapoint, Chauncey Creek, and Payne Roads
• Whipple Road near the PNSY Gate 2
• The Spruce Creek area near the outlet shopping centers
• Kittery Water District land in the northwest
• Seapoint beach
• The southeastern side of Gerrish Island
• The Rachel Carson National Wildlife Refuge
• Pepperrell Road between Chauncey Creek and Deerings Pond
• Lewis Square

Sea Level Rise

SLR of 0.5 to 1.3 feet between the years of 2000 and 2050.

SLR of 1.0 to 3.8 feet by 2100.  

Sea levels will continue to rise for centuries. 

Storm Surge

The abnormal rise of water generated by a storm.

Scientific estimates of the height of storm surge associated 
with the 100-year storm range from about 4.0 to 5.3 feet



3.9 FT SLR + SS



3.9 FT SLR + SS



3.9 FT SLR + SS



3.9 FT SLR + SS



3.9 FT SLR + SS



6.1 FT SLR + SS



6.1 FT SLR + SS



6.1 FT SLR + SS



6.1 FT SLR + SS



6.1 FT SLR + SS



10.9 FT SLR + SS



10.9 FT SLR + SS



10.9 FT SLR + SS



10.9 FT SLR + SS



10.9 FT SLR + SS



2-PART GIS STORYMAPS

LINK LINK

https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/2990fe179b184b4ea2d390a46b04455f
https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/5c3c579de8114cb195cc700fa1ace1c9


DRAFT ORDINANCES

Coastal Overlay Zone Flood Hazard Overlay Zone 



KEY RECOMMENDATIONS 

Short Term:

Determine Metrics of Success

Create Opportunities for Participatory Action

Medium Term:

Seek Trainings

Implement Data Action

Long Term:

Explore Funding Mechanisms

Make No Small Plans

Next Steps



Identify:

How many properties are affected in each sea level rise + storm surge 
scenario

The total valuation of the properties affected in each sea level rise + 
storm surge scenario.

Are buildings affected by floods on the properties or is it primarily green 
space?

Create online mapping resources.

Garner support from residents through public awareness

Integrate suggested coastal resilience into Kittery’s zoning.

Begin the work of creating Plans

Plan for the National Flood Insurance Program Community Rating System.

NEXT STEPS



THANK YOU!



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A Town in High Water: 
Coastal Hazard Planning Practices for Kittery, Maine 

 
 
 

 
[DRAFT REPORT] 

July 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Alexandra Duprey, UNH Sustainability Fellow 
Mentors: Judy Spiller and Cameron Wake 

 
Kittery Climate Adaptation Committee (CAC) 

Kittery, Maine 
 
 
 
  



Table of Contents 
 
Introduction………………………………………………………………… 1 
 
Coastal Hazard Planning…………………………………………………... 1 
  
 Climate and Hazards…………………………………………………………….. 1 
 Climate Resilience………………………………………………………………... 2 

Adaptation………………………………………………………………………... 3 
Coastal Hazards in Kittery……………………………………………………… 4 

 
Vulnerability Mapping…………………………………………………… 5 
  
 Kittery Sea Level Rise Scenarios………………………………………………. 5 

The Kittery Vulnerability Maps……………………………………………….. 7 
 
Current Efforts……………………………………………………………. 10 
 
 Federal………………………………………………………………. 10 

State…………………………………………………………………. 10 
Regional……………………………………………………………... 11 
Kittery……………………………………………………………….. 12 

 
Overview of Strategies Researched………………………………………. 13 
 
 Natural Capital Strategies……………………………………………………… 13 
 Manufactured Capital Strategies………………………………………………. 14 
 Other Flood Resilience Strategies Explored for Maine………………………. 14 
 
Key Recommendations……………………………………………………. 16 
 
 Short Term………………………………………………………………………. 16 
 Medium Term…………………………………………………………………… 17 
 Long Term………………………………………………………………………. 19 
 
Conclusion…………………………………………………………………. 23 
 
 Next Steps………………………………………………………………………..  23 
 
Appendices A-J
  



  

Acknowledgements  
We would like to thank the University of New Hampshire Sustainability Institute and Josephine 
Lamprey for their support and the opportunity to develop this report for the Town of Kittery. We 
would also like to thank the Kittery Climate Adaptation Committee and the Kittery Climate 
Adaptation Network members, such as Debbie Driscoll and Ben Sweeney, for their support and 
help in identifying key issues. A big thank you to Abbie Sherwin and Karina Graeter with the 
Southern Maine Planning and Development Commission for their insights and advice on 
scouting information.  
Finally, thank you to those Town personnel such as Kendra Amaral, Adam Causey, and Kathy 
Connor who were so helpful in providing resources and support for this project. 
 



 1 

Introduction 
This report functions as a series of recommendations for addressing coastal hazard issues for the 
Town of Kittery, Maine. The following report is a product of the 2020 University of New 
Hampshire Sustainability Fellows program. It functions best in combination with a series of 
vulnerability maps, draft zoning ordinances, and explanatory products that were also created as 
part of the fellowship program. The vulnerability maps and draft zoning ordinances can be 
referenced in Appendices A-J.  

Coastal Hazard Planning  
Climate and Hazards 

Although we have always dealt with weather and seasons, the globe is getting significantly 
warmer. As a result of this warming, the world is beginning to experience unprecedented 
climatic repercussions. The American Meteorological Society reported that in 2018, the planet 
had an atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO2) concentration of over 407 parts per million, which was 
the highest concentration the earth has seen in 3-5 million years.1 This increasing carbon 
pollution has triggered widespread changes in the Earth’s systems. This is referred to as climate 
change.  
The evidence of anthropogenic (human-caused) climate change is extensive and largely 
irrefutable.2,3 The impacts of climate change are intensifying, and threatening the physical, 
social, and economic well-being of our society. According to studies carried out by the National 
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), every year since the beginning of this 
century has been hotter than the 1981-2010 average.4 If carbon emissions continue to rise in a 
business-as-usual scenario, the impacts of climate change are expected to cost the country up to 
10% of its gross domestic product (GDP) by the end of the century.5 Although the consequences 
of climate change are relevant to every sector of society, there are also large-scale disasters that 
will become increasingly disruptive. For example, in 2018 there were 14 climate disasters that 
tolled 247 deaths. These events resulted in over a billion dollars in costs and damage.  
The many impacts of climate change include events associated with coastal areas, otherwise 
referred to as coastal hazards. Coastal hazards can include flooding, shoreline erosion, 
groundwater rise, and destruction from storms. Flooding is one of the most pervasive hazards in 
the United States, with more than 70 percent of presidential disaster declarations for flooding 
events.6 The rate of global sea level rise has increased in recent years, which leaves coastal 
communities at greater risk to flooding.7 Rising seas result in more damage associated with 
coastal storms and storm surge. In addition, in some low lying areas, sea level rise results in an 
increase in the frequency and magnitude of high tide flooding.8 The two major causes of sea 
level rise are ocean water expanding from warming and the increased melting of ice on land (like 
glaciers and ice sheets).9 Additionally, climate change can trigger intensified storm events, such 
as hurricanes and tropical storms, that cause destruction along shorelines from intense waves, 
rainfall, and wind. During these more intense storms, areas of a municipality can be at even 
higher risk of flooding events,10  which may render various effects including roadway and 
building destruction, saltwater intrusion in freshwater resources. 



 2 

At least 40 percent of the population in the United States live in coastal areas.11 Over 452,000 
Mainers live on the coast or on coastal islands (about 34% of the state’s total population).12 The 
University of Maine recently published a report titled ‘Maine’s Climate Future’ in which the 
University’s Climate Change Institute and Maine Sea Grant summarized an assessment of 
climate changes in Maine.13 The report makes the point that acting in a significant way today 
holds tremendous opportunity to avoid worst-case scenarios for the future climate. In the 
southern coastal area of Maine, air temperature has increased 3.4 degrees Fahrenheit since 1895. 
There is less snow (-20%) and more frequent and intense rain (+15%) resulting in increasing 
flooding events. Runoff flows can impact drinking water and damage roads, bridges, and 
properties. 
Data from the Portland tide-gauge indicates that the relative sea-level has risen about 7.5 inches 
since 1912. High-tide flooding used to occur about five times a year in Portland but can now 
occur 12 or more times a year. Coastal hazards threated 198 miles of Maine roadways and over 
1,200 homes, which has affected real estate values.14 Sea levels are projected to rise for 
centuries. Storms like Nor’easters continue to threaten Maine and coastal areas while increasing 
coastal flooding associated with these storms. NOAA projects that new England will experience 
more intense and frequent rainstorms. The Gulf of Maine is one of the fastest warming water 
bodies in the world.  
The Town of Kittery is one of many coastal municipalities that is asking what it can do to 
mitigate future risk related to coastal hazards. There are already federal, state, regional, and local 
efforts underway to address this crisis (many of these are listed in the ‘Current Efforts’ section of 
this document starting on page 10). By acting proactively, Kittery can better prepare for coastal 
hazards to protect its infrastructure, while prioritizing and protecting vulnerable citizenry. This 
Best Practices guide functions to provide Kittery advocates with the information and tools to 
address coastal hazards. By addressing coastal hazards, we can build a more resilient Kittery.  
 

Climate Resilience 

By addressing coastal hazards like flooding, erosion, and storm surge, we can develop resiliency 
in our communities. Climate resilience can be generally defined as the capacity for a society to:  
1) absorb stresses and maintain function in the face of external stresses imposed upon it by 
climate change and  
2) adapt, reorganize, and evolve into more desirable configurations that improve the 
sustainability of the system, leaving it better prepared for future climate change impacts. 
Building coastal resilience means planning for coastal hazards (flooding, storm surge, coastal 
erosion). There are “co-benefits” created by planning for these risks.15 These co-benefits touch 
major aspects of our society, including the following: 
Environment 

Ecological co-benefits may include but are not limited to: protection of the natural and beneficial 
functions of coastal marshes and floodplains, creation of habitat for fish, fowl and wildlife, 
enhanced air and water quality, restoration of natural ecosystems, and a more sustainable 
environment.” 
Economy 



 3 

The local economy is at risk during coastal hazard events. Flooding, sea-level rise, and storm 
surge can ruin local businesses and reduce customer access to stores. Large employment sectors, 
such as the Portsmouth Naval Shipyard, are reliant upon stable and secure coastlines for their 
operations. Planning for future hazards can better preserve and enhance Kittery's economy. 
Planning for flood risk can create additional opportunities for recreation and interaction with 
nature. This can boost the local economy by attracting regional tourism. 
Equity 

The effects of coastal hazards do not affect everyone equally. Marginalized populations with less 
resources, including the elderly, poor, the unhealthy, and communities of color, are more likely 
to face the greatest repercussions of flooding, storm surge, and other hazard events with the least 
resources to recover from damage and loss. Understanding who and where these populations are 
is imperative to protect our communities in hazard events and build resilience for the future. 
Planning for coastal hazards can protect vulnerable populations that are at greatest risk. Equity is 
intrinsic to all aspects of coastal hazard planning, including more technical aspects such as 
insurance provisions. Vulnerable groups may include... 

1. Elderly population 
2. Households below the poverty level 
3. Residents without vehicle access 
4. Disabled individuals 
5. Non-native English speakers 
6. Service industry/tourism-based workers 
7. Homeless population 
8. Working waterfront workers 
9. Other local vulnerable populations 

Adaptation 

There is great importance in reducing carbon pollution emissions to reduce the amount of 
anthropogenic climate change. This must also be paired with action to adjust to our warming 
world. Adaptation is adjustment in natural or human systems to a new or changing environment 
that expands beneficial opportunities or moderates negative effects. Adaptive Capacity is the 
combination of the strengths, attributes, and resources available to an individual, community, 
society, or organization that can be used to prepare for and undertake actions to reduce adverse 
impacts, moderate harm, or exploit beneficial opportunities. 
Natural and Manufactured Adaptation Solutions 

Natural capital, or the “living and nonliving components of ecosystems,” include basic 
components such as soil, air, and water. Healthy ecosystems can reduce the negative impacts of 
climate change. For example, coastal hazards can be diffused by habitats like mangroves and 
forests. On the other hand, manufactured capital is infrastructure built by humans and relied on 
by society (i.e. roads, bridges, buildings, water and sewer systems, electrical grid). When 
considering how to build coastal hazard resiliency, deciding between natural capital versus 
manufactured capital depends on the problem in need of addressing. The solutions may have 
differing costs and benefits.  



 4 

This report focuses on ways of addressing coastal hazards in Kittery. By focusing on adaptation 
and building resilience, the Town can make strong steps towards reducing the impacts of 
flooding and other natural disasters.  
 

Coastal Hazards in Kittery 
As the oldest town in the State of Maine, Kittery has a long history of reliance on the ocean. 
Prior to European invasion, the area was known to the Algonquin indigenous peoples as 
Amiciskeag, meaning “the fishing point.” To this day, the area is still renowned for its coastal 
recreation and shipyard industry. Kittery also has a long history of storm impact, such as the 
recently destructive Nor’easters that upheaved Kittery’s coastal infrastructure. Among the 
hazards that threaten Kittery’s coast are storm surge, flooding, sea level rise, and coastal erosion. 
The Maine Geological Survey indicates that the coast of Maine can reasonably expect to 
experience one to two feet of sea level rise by 2050, and four to six feet of rise by 2100.16 This, 
however, is further exacerbated by storm surge events that raise the water even higher.  
 

 
The Town has begun addressing this issue through establishment of the Kittery Town Council 
Climate Adaptation Committee, joining with neighboring communities to form the Southern 
Maine Regional Sustainability and Resilience Program, collaborating with the Portsmouth Naval 
Shipyard and surrounding communities on the Portsmouth Naval Shipyard Joint Land Use 
Study, and has begun key planning processes like the Kittery Flood Resilience Checklist to 
identify vulnerabilities and plan to protect assets. The Flood Resilience Checklist identified areas 
vulnerable to flood hazards17: 

Figure 1: Fort Foster after storms in 2018 (photo taken by Judy Spiller) 



 5 

• Residential neighborhoods 
• Heavily traveled road segments and business areas 
• Emergency evacuation routes 
• The Portsmouth Naval Shipyard (PNSY)  
• Fort Foster 
• The Admiralty Village area  
• Parts of Shepherds Cove senior housing 
• Wood Island 
• Sections of Seapoint, Chauncey Creek, and Payne Roads 
• Whipple Road near the PNSY Gate 2  
• The Spruce Creek area near the outlet shopping centers 
• Kittery Water District land in the northwest 
• Seapoint beach 
• The southeastern side of Gerrish Island 
• The Rachel Carson National Wildlife Refuge 
• Pepperrell Road between Chauncey Creek and Deerings Pond  
• Lewis Square 

 
Vulnerability Mapping 
In conjunction with this report, a series of flood maps have been developed to exhibit the most 
vulnerable areas in the Town (Appendices A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I). We chose three different 
water level scenarios that portray flooding resulting from the combined impacts of sea-level rise 
and storm surge: 3.9 feet, 6.1 feet, and 10.9 feet above high astronomical tide (HAT). These 
scenarios are depicted in two formats: a coastal view of inundated areas in Kittery (Appendices 
A, B, C) and zoomed-in insert selections of inundated areas (Appendices D, E, F). The 
Portsmouth Naval Shipyard was also mapped with the sea level rise projections of 3.9 feet, 6.1 
feet, and 10.9 feet. (Appendices G, H, I) 

 
Kittery Sea Level Rise Scenarios 

 
To best utilize the vulnerability maps, it is important to understand the projections of sea level 
rise and storm surge that the maps are displaying. The following information is based on a 2019 
study titled “New Hampshire Coastal Flood Risk Summary Part 1: Science.” 18 The analysis of 
future sea level rise in coastal New Hampshire details impacts that are applicable to Kittery as 
well, given the Town’s proximity to coastal New Hampshire.  
 
Sea Level Rise 

The analysis indicates that our coast is likely to experience sea level rise (SLR) of 0.5 to 1.3 feet 
between the years of 2000 and 2050. There is a 1-in-100 chance that SLR will exceed 2.0 feet 
by 2050. 
There is a much larger range in the estimates of sea-level rise after 2050 due to uncertainties in 
the rate at which the Antarctic ice sheet disintegrates. By 2100, Kittery is likely to experience 
SLR of 1.0 to 3.8 feet. There is a 1-in-100 chance that sea-level rise will exceed 5.3 to 6.5 feet. 



 6 

The higher SLR estimates are associated with higher amounts of global greenhouse gas 
emissions. 
Finally, sea levels will continue to rise for centuries. The rate of longer-term sea-level rise also 
depends on how rapidly the Antarctic ice sheets melt. The overall extent of this melting and 
ensuing sea level rise depends, most of all, on the action taken to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions globally.19 
 
Storm Surge 
NOAA defines storm surge as the abnormal rise of water generated by a storm.20 Recent 
scientific estimates of the height of storm surge associated with the 100-year storm range from 
about 4.0 to 5.3 feet.21 The 100-year storm really refers to a storm that has a 1% annual chance 
of occurring. Considering the complexities involved in storm surge predictions, it is not 
surprising that the range of return period estimates varies relative to one another and to historical 
water level analysis. The height of the storm surge will be greatest on the open coast and will be 
reduced as the surge moves up the river. Detailed modeling indicates that the height of the storm 
surge associated with a 100-yar storm is reduced by 50% at the Little Bay Bridge.22  
 
Future Water Levels in Kittery 

The 3.9 foot Scenario: Currently, a 100-year storm could result in water levels that are 4.0 to 5.3 
feet above current high astronomical tide (HAT). The maps of the 3.9 feet water level therefore 
provide a reasonable estimate of flooding associated with a 100-year storm today. 
The 6.1 foot Scenario: By 2050, a combination of likely sea-level rise (0.5 – 1.3 feet) and 5 feet 
storm surge would result in water levels ranging from 5.5 to 6.3 feet.  The 6.1 foot water level 
map therefore provides an estimate of likely flooding associated with a 100-year storm in 2050. 
The 10.9 foot Projection: By 2100, a combination of likely sea-level rise (1.0 – 3.8 feet) and 5 
feet storm surge would result in water levels ranging from 6.0 to 8.8 feet. The 10.9 feet water 
level map therefore provide a slightly larger estimate of flooding associated with a 100-year 
storm after 2100. 
  



 7 

The Kittery Vulnerability Maps 

  
 
  

Figure 2a: HAT plus 3.9 ft SLR & SS Figure 2b: HAT plus 6.1 ft SLR & SS Figure 2c: HAT plus 10.9 ft SLR & SS 

Figure 3a: HAT plus 3.9 ft SLR & SS Figure 3b: HAT plus 6.1 ft SLR & SS Figure 3c: HAT plus 10.9 ft SLR & SS 

As mentioned, three different water level scenarios were used to portray flooding resulting 
from the combined impacts of sea-level rise and storm surge: 3.9 feet, 6.1 feet, and 10.9 feet 
(light blue) above high astronomical tide (HAT) (dark blue). The following maps showcase 
areas that are particularly at-risk of severe flood inundation. The following maps show the 
three scenarios in increasing water level scenarios for each location. 
 
The Rachel Carson National Wildlife Refuge (Figure 2): As exhibited in Figure 2, the 3.9 ft 
scenario shows immediate flooding of Tower Road, Cutts Island Trail, Seapoint and Crescent 
Beaches, and properties near Route 103. This is exacerbated in the subsequent scenarios, with 
flooding extending over Route 103. However, the Rachel Carson wildlife preserves buffer 
further water spread. 

Badger’s Island (Figure 3): Badgers Island and the adjacent shoreline will be severely affected 
by flooding. Warren’s Lobster House will be affected by flooding immediately in the 3.9 ft 
scenario. These areas also host marinas and markets, like Seaview Lobster, that will be affected 
by flooding. Beyond the John Paul Jones Historic Site, however, there is expected to be little 
impact inland. The dark blue depicted for the Route 1 bridge represents an artifact of the 
analysis but is not likely to occur under these sea-level rise scenarios.  



 8 

Figure 4a: HAT plus 3.9 ft SLR & SS Figure 4b: HAT plus 6.1 ft SLR & SS Figure 4c: HAT plus 10.9 ft SLR & SS 

Figure 5a: HAT plus 3.9 ft SLR & SS Figure 5b: HAT plus 6.1 ft SLR & SS Figure 5c: HAT plus 10.9 ft SLR & SS 

Figure 6a: HAT plus 3.9 ft SLR & SS Figure 6b: HAT plus 6.1 ft SLR & SS Figure 6c: HAT plus 10.9 ft SLR & SS 

Admiralty Village (Figure 4) : In this area, the difference between the 3.9 ft and 10.9 ft 
scenarios are stark. The neighborhoods in this area will experience drastically increasing flood 
events from now until 2100. While the 3.9 ft scenario affects homes primarily towards the 
north along Spruce Creek, in the 6.1 ft and 10.9 ft scenarios there is clear evidence of 
widespread flooding of dozens of properties and several roads. The area to the west of Boush 
St along Mason Ave is not expected to experience flooding.  

Fort Foster (Figure 5): This area, though primarily green space, hosts properties that will be 
severely affected by flooding. Homes lining the coast are expected to be impacted as early as 
the 3.9 ft scenario. The Kittery Point Fire Station is in the path of flood waters as soon as the 
3.9 ft scenario as well, with other key facilities like the Bethany Church and Citgo gas station 
also in the path of potential destruction. Route 103, Pocahontas Rd, and Goodwin Rd are the 
only potential evacuative roadways running through the area and are expected to flood.  

Route 103 (Pepperrell Rd) over Spruce Creek (Figure 6): This roadway, a key transportation 
and evacuation route, is expected to experience flooding events. All three scenarios exhibit 
detriment to the roadway in the area over Spruce creek. In the 10.9 scenario, the western 
portion of mainland near Tilton and Newson Avenues are predicted to flood entirely, cutting 
off the mainland from passing through this exhibited area.  



 9 

  

Figure 7a: HAT plus 3.9 ft SLR & SS Figure 7b: HAT plus 6.1 ft SLR & SS Figure 7c: HAT plus 10.9 ft SLR & SS 

Figure 8a: HAT plus 3.9 ft SLR & SS Figure 8b: HAT plus 6.1 ft SLR & SS Figure 8c: HAT plus 10.9 ft SLR & SS 

Route 1 and Route 1 Bypass (Figure 7): Although there will not be much inland flooding in the 
3.9 ft and 6.1 ft scenarios in this area, the 10.9 ft scenario indicates that there will be a large 
area of flooding along the west side of Route 1, including Beach Pea Baking, Golden Harvest 
Produce Market, Carl’s Meat Market, and the Kittery Water District properties. This flooding 
will continue south and may interfere with Government/Walker St. In the northwestern portion 
of this exhibit, there is expected flooding that will impact additional neighborhoods near 
Dennett Rd.  

Payne Road (Figure 8): This roadway near the intersection with Brave Boat Harbor (Route 
103) is already flooded during large Nor’easters and will experience significant flooding in the 
3.9 ft to 10.9 ft scenarios.  



 10 

Current Efforts 
Below are organizations, programs, and planning efforts that play a role in developing resilience 
to coastal hazards. These references are important as they have considerable information and 
resources that can be used by the Town in coastal adaptation planning.  

Federal 

• National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP)23: Part of the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA). Aims to reduce the impact of flooding on private and public structures 
by providing affordable insurance to property owners, renters and businesses and by 
encouraging communities to adopt and enforce floodplain management regulations.  

• Risk MAP and Flood Maps24: FEMA and its NFIP program have created maps displaying 
at-risk areas across the country. Although these maps are changing and may require 
adjustment, they provide an idea of target areas for climate adaptation and mitigation.  

• U.S. Climate Resilience Toolkit25: A highly developed website designed to help 
communities find and use tools, information, and subject matter expertise to build climate 
resilience. The Toolkit offers information from all across the U.S. federal government in 
one easy-to-use location. Includes ‘Steps to Resilience,’ ‘Case Studies,’ ‘Tools,’ 
‘Regions,’ and ‘Expertise’. Operates under the auspices of the United States Global 
Change Research Program. 

• CRS for Community Resilience26: Aims to increase the number of communities making 
voluntary, effective measures to increase flood resilience through FEMA's Community 
Rating System (CRS). This project promotes CRS participation, provides guidance on 
actions that increase a community’s rating, and works directly with communities to 
increase their resiliency through the CRS process. 

• NOAA Climate Program Office27: Advances understanding and prediction of climate and 
leverages the science to help Americans plan and respond. 

• U.S. Global Change Research Program28: A Federal program mandated by Congress to 
coordinate Federal research and investments in understanding the forces shaping the 
global environment, both human and natural, and their impacts on society. 

• Georgetown Law Climate Center29: The Georgetown Climate Center has pertinent 
resources for municipalities wanting to prepare for climate change. Of these resources the 
‘Equitable Adaptation Legal & Policy Toolkit’ may be the most useful. In the toolkit, 
there are resources pertaining to ‘Community-Driven Engagement Processes,’ ‘Economic 
Resilience,’ and ‘Resilient Affordable Housing, Anti-Displacement & Gentrification,’ 
just to name a few.  

State 

• Maine Coastal Program30: Part of the Maine Department of Marine Resources. Works 
with various partners toward the shared goal of a healthy coast and vibrant coastal 
communities. 

• Municipal Planning Assistance Program31: Part of the Maine Department of Agriculture 
Conservation and Forestry. Put together the Municipal Climate Adaptation Guidance 
Series in collaboration with Maine’s Regional Planning Organizations. Provides land use 
planning expertise and promotes growth management principles by providing technical 
and financial assistance, coordinating with state agencies, and implementing Maine’s 
Growth Management Act.  



 11 

• Municipal Climate Adaptation Guidance Series32: These guidance documents explain 
how to identify threats to community resources and how to respond to those threats by 
integrating climate adaptation measures. The documents suggest doing so through local 
policies, practices, and ordinances. There are ten documents in the series, with each 
addressing a different area of municipality functions.  

• Maine Floodplain Management Program33: Part of the Maine Department of Agriculture 
Conservation and Forestry. Works with individuals, communities and professionals to 
reduce the risk of flooding. 

• Maine Geological Survey34: Part of the Maine Department of Agriculture Conservation 
and Forestry. Provides the people and businesses of Maine with essential geologic 
information about land. Experienced geologists collect and summarize information about 
groundwater, mineral resources, surface deposits and bedrock materials, stability of 
coastal properties, and natural hazards such as storms, floods, landslides, and 
earthquakes. 

• Maine Natural Areas Program35: Part of the Maine Department of Agriculture 
Conservation and Forestry. Serves Maine's citizens as the most comprehensive source on 
the State's important natural features. Inventories lands that support rare and endangered 
plants, rare natural communities and ecosystems, and outstanding examples of more 
common natural communities and ecosystems. 

• Maine Climate Hub36: Part of the Maine Department of Environmental Protection. A 
centralized climate directory providing decision makers and assistance providers with the 
resources needed to become more resilient in the face of a changing climate. 

• Maine Climate Council37: An assembly of scientists, industry leaders, bipartisan local and 
state officials, and engaged citizens to develop a four-year plan to put Maine on a 
trajectory to reduce emissions by 45% by 2030 and at least 80% by 2050. 

• University of Maine’s Climate Change Institute38: Integrates transformational field, 
laboratory and modeling activities to understand the physical, chemical, biological and 
socio-cultural components of the climate system of the past and present, to better predict 
future changes in climate and their impacts in Maine and the globe. Released a highly 
informative report called “Maine’s Climate Future” that details the current and expected 
effects of climate change in Maine.  

• Environmental Office39: Part of the Maine Department of Transportation. Plays a lead 
role in proactively integrating transportation, environmental and innovation objectives 
with the department's plans, operations and maintenance activities. 

• Maine Climate Table40: Provides opportunities for learning, participation, and actions for 
solving climate change, with particular focus on what works for Maine and Mainers. 
They offer a wide array of communication materials, workshops, webinars, and research 
tools.   

Regional 

• The Southern Maine Planning and Development Commission (SMPDC)41: The Southern 
Maine Planning and Development Commission is a council of governments serving 
thirty-nine member municipalities. The Sustainability and Resilience of SMPDC 
coordinates and leads sustainability and coastal resiliency efforts with the aim of 
enhancing sustainability, climate preparedness, and coastal community resilience. 



 12 

• Town of Kittery and Portsmouth Naval Shipyard Joint Land Use Study42: Completed 
with Southern Maine Planning and Development Commission, regional jurisdictions, 
States of Maine and New Hampshire, and Portsmouth Naval Shipyard (PNSY). Issues 
covered include adequate local and regional transportation networks; adequate workforce 
housing, resiliency of coastal development; community development guidelines and 
infrastructure investments to guide compatible community development; and protection 
of military line of site corridors, port access, river channel/shipping lanes, and sea-based 
mobility corridors. 

• New Hampshire Coastal Adaptation Workgroup43: A collaboration of 24 organizations 
working to ensure coastal watershed communities are resourceful, ready and resilient to 
the impacts of extreme weather and long-term climate change. 

• Maine Island Institute44: The Island Institute works to sustain Maine’s island and coastal 
communities, and exchanges ideas and experiences to further the sustainability of 
communities. 

• York County Hazard Mitigation Plan45: York County has outlined various hazards, 
including flooding and storm events, with definitions, types, locations, extent, previous 
occurrences, and propagability of future occurances. This document also includes 
assessments of vulnerabilities, and mitigation strategies relevant for kittery.    

Kittery 

• Kittery Flood Resilience Checklist46: a non- regulatory assessment tool developed by the 
Maine Coastal Program to assist coastal communities with examining local flood risk, 
evaluating vulnerability to flood hazards, and identifying specific actions for enhancing 
community-wide flood resilience. The process entailed two workshops during which 
Town staff, members of the Kittery Climate Adaptation Committee (CAC), and other 
relevant representatives from the community participated in a facilitated discussion about 
local flood hazards, community resilience, and adaptation planning. 

• Kittery Climate Adaptation Committee47: A committee of the Town Council dedicated to 
seeking options to make Kittery more resilient in the face of risks associated with 
warming temperatures and rising seas.  

• Kittery Climate Adaptation Network: A grassroots civic organization comprised of 
Kittery residents who want to support the actions of the Kittery Climate Adaptation 
Committee. The goal of this is to support the Town’s adaptation to climate change 
hazards. 

• Climate FAQs48: A series of responses on the issue of climate change for Kittery 
residents, based on a climate survey conducted by the Kittery Climate Adaptation 
Committee.  

• Comprehensive Planning49: The Town of Kittery’s Comprehensive Plan identified 
preparing for climate-related coastal hazards as extremely important, lists developing a 
“Climate Adaptation Study” as one of the highest priorities, in other words, a “ripe apple” 
(as cited in the Inventory and Assessment of Existing Conditions section of the 
Comprehensive plan). Kittery also has Emergency Management municipal code that 
reflects emergency preparedness plans.50  

  



 13 

Overview of Strategies Researched 
The following information has been derived from prior research on strategies to address coastal 
vulnerabilities and resilience. These strategies will inform the Key Recommendations section as 
they apply within the context of the Town of Kittery.   

Natural Capital Strategies 

In a paper titled “Addressing Sea Level Rise through Natural Capital: Practice, Planning, and 
policy in Small East Coast Municipalities” University of New Hampshire students under the 
supervision of Prof. Cameron Wake identified ways of mitigating impacts of sea level rise 
through ecosystem services.51 Ecosystem services are described as “benefits that the natural 
world provides to humans.” These services function based on a community’s location and 
historical land use and there must be careful consideration in identifying the best natural capital 
for the job. Through research examining the policies, practices, and planning methods of small 
U.S. east coast municipalities under 50,000 residents, the following strategies were identified: 
Planning 

• Creation of a Master Plan 
• Creation of a Hazard Mitigation Plan 
• Creation of a Coastal Resilience Plan 
• Creation of a Sea-Level Rise Plan 
• Flood mapping 
• Establishment of an Environmental Conservation Department 
• Exploration of managed retreat options 
• Mapping of vulnerable infrastructure 
• Resilience and hazard planning workshops 

Practices 

• Dune restoration through revegetation and limitation of beach access pathways 
• Salt marsh restoration 
• Living shoreline installation 
• Establishment of resources on Town website on resilience 
• Removal of invasive species 
• Acquisition of at-risk properties and land 
• Preservation of open spaces 
• Removal of structures that impair tidal flow and habitat migration 
• Valuation of protected critical ecosystems and flood storage areas 
• Launch education campaigns on resilience measures (i.e. coastal landscaping or structural 

elevation) 
• Installation of ‘rip rap’ (loose stone) to prevent erosion 
• Purchase of development rights to reduce density in flood prone areas 

Policy 

• Creation of a Wetlands Ordinance 
• Creation of a Floodplain Ordinance 
• Tax incentives for property easements 



 14 

• Additional required setbacks 
• Additional wetland buffers 
• Limitations on development expansion 

Manufactured Capital Strategies 

In a paper titled “Investigation of Manufactured Capital in Response to Sea Level Rise for Small 
Coastal Communities” University of New Hampshire students under the supervision of Prof. 
Cameron Wake identified ways of mitigating impacts of sea level rise through manufactured 
capital adaptation.52 Manufactured capital refers to “infrastructure built by humans and relied on 
by society.” Manufactured capital like roads, bridges, buildings, and the electrical grid can both 
be vulnerable to sea level rise and can be used to leverage resilience in protection from sea level 
rise. The research found that towns had four main options in addressing coastal flood 
vulnerabilities: to protect, accommodate, retreat, or take no action. Through research examining 
innovative examples of small U.S. east coast municipalities under 50,000 residents, there were 
findings that suggested similar ‘planning,’ ‘practices,’ and ‘policy’ methods as the 
aforementioned Natural Capital paper. However, the following unique strategies were found: 
Planning 

• Establishment of state or regional programs for resources, funding, and technical support 
• Continued research for small municipalities on steps to resilience 
• Continued research into funding opportunities for small municipalities 

Practices 

• Elevation of homes 
• Creation of storm water storage parks  
• Encouraged development of permeable pavements 
• Installation of vegetative sewer strips 
• Required and responsive ditch and drainage cleaning 
• Installation of deepwater ocean outfalls 
• Utilization of stormwater ponds 
• Installation of tide gates 
• Installation of rain barrels and green roofs 
• Installation of bioswales 

Policy  

• Requirements for low impact development 
• Requirement of stormwater utility fee for funding  

Other Flood Resilience Strategies Explored for Maine 

The Maine Flood Resilience Checklist53 is a non-regulatory self-assessment designed to assist 
Maine communities in evaluating how well positioned they are in preparation, response, and 
recovery to flood hazards. The Checklist defines five main sections for flood resilience: 

• Risk and Vulnerability: Communities need to identify the potential geographic extent of 
flood hazards and effects in relation to their specific locality. A vulnerability assessment 
provides a baseline of your community’s exposure to flood hazards, allowing for projects 
to be established and measured.  



 15 

• Critical Infrastructure and Facilities: Critical infrastructure and facilities are those that 
have the potential to cause serious bodily harm, extensive property damage, or disruption 
of vital socioeconomic activities if damaged, destroyed, or functionally impaired. 
Information sharing between Town officials, owners, and operators regarding how flood 
hazards are incorporated into operation is important for safeguarding assets and fostering 
resilience. 

• Community Planning: Planning decisions and policies can greatly influence how resilient 
a community is to coastal hazards. Additionally, Maine has a home rule governance 
structure, making plans essential to governance. By integrating hazard mitigation and 
emergency preparedness with existing community planning, communities can better 
prepare.  

• Social and Economic Vulnerability: Understanding who is most vulnerable and why is 
crucial for developing strategies and actions to protect those populations from flood 
hazards and for building resilience. 

• Natural Environment: Natural systems protect and buffer communities from the impacts 
of coastal storms and flooding, reduce vulnerability, and can prevent economic losses 
from existing and future coastal hazards. Development has impaired natural systems 
along the coast. Preserving coastal resources and supporting their adaptation to changing 
environmental conditions will help to ensure their functions, services, and benefits. 

Kittery has undergone two workshops that utilize this Checklist to identify vulnerabilities and 
existing resources in the Town. This has culminated in a report and notes that are posted in the 
Resources section of the Climate Adaptation Committee page on the Town website.54  
 
  



 16 

Key Recommendations 
Short Term  

Determine Metrics of Success 

Defining what coastal resilience looks like to Kittery 
This is the first step towards developing coastal resilience in the Town of Kittery. In order for 
this recommendation to be successful, practitioners must remain focused and clear in their 
objectives. Bring individuals of varying expertise (planners, engineers, scientists, advocacy 
groups, town administration, etc.) to help form these metrics in respect to their fields. Use the 
strategies mentioned and the other recommendations to inform these metrics.  
Considerations: 

• Utilize this research to determine priorities in planning, practices, and policy measures. 
• Establish clear objectives and goals in measurable qualitative and quantitative terms. 
• Set dates for accomplishing tasks and appoint personnel to do so. 
• The overall effect of this work is to establish a ‘Monitoring and Evaluation’ framework55 

to keep track of the implementation of adaptation plans and actions and assess their 
effectiveness and outcomes.  

• Reference the Data, Metrics & Monitoring Tools that are included in the Georgetown 
Law Climate Center ‘Equitable Adaptation Legal & Policy Toolkit’.56 This toolkit has 
productive steps towards evaluating actions.  

 

Create Opportunities for Participatory Action 

Involving community in working towards coastal resiliency 
It is of the utmost important to bring the community into planning efforts for democratic and 
effectual governance. Because of the mental and physical strains brought on by the COVID-19 
crisis, there will be a strong need for Kittery residents to find ways of supporting their 
community. This is an important moment for the Kittery Adaptation Committee to bring 
residents into their efforts. If citizenry is not properly engaged, there is serious risk of retaliation 
once a project is underway. Community participation must be considered within the short term, 
but continued throughout projects, for successful resilience planning in the Town of Kittery.  
Considerations: 

• Information sharing (from residents and to residents) 
o Create an easy-to-use platform for innovation and engagement. Residents should 

be able to use this platform to retrieve data, submit forms, and find information. 
This platform should also offer ways for residents to get further involved or share 
thoughts/considerations. 

• Empowerment 
o Create opportunity for citizenry to hold authority and power in decision-making 

process through community partnerships. 
o Host neighborhood roundtables, forums, workshops, or open houses in addition to 

public hearings. Hearings can be intimidating to some, and a casual discussion 
may facilitate heightened engagement.  



 17 

o For example, if pursuing the FEMA Community Rating System (CRS) 
regulations, make sure to educate Town citizens about the process and its 
importance. 

o Continue offering an online option for Town meetings, with recordings of the 
meetings put online. This will allow working families and other folks to 
participate according to their lifestyle, health, and abilities.  

o Identify civic organizations to join the effort. For example, the Kittery Climate 
Adaptation Network, neighborhood HOAs, or other neighborhood groups. 

o Open discussion with community members on value judgements and decisions. 
For example, what is the risk tolerance for town residents? There will need to be 
prioritization of projects during the planning process, and the public may have 
unexpected perspectives to offer as to what needs to be addressed when. Laying 
out the risks and engaging citizens through workshopping opportunities may be 
an effective approach to achieving this.  

• Developing a communications strategy  
o Reach out and broadcast to citizens via email, SMS, social media, advertisements, 

door to door, in-person events, or informational sessions/workshops. 
o Utilize resources provided by the Maine Climate Table57 on how to communicate 

climate risk to Maine residents. 
o Utilize resources provided by NOAA58 for communicating risks like storms, sea 

level rise, and other hazardous events. 
o Other ideas include a thorough FAQs webpage and maps for viewing in the Town 

Hall.  
o Working alongside civic organizations, such as the Kittery Climate Adaptation 

Network, to further communicate the issue through their connections.  
• Arts and cultural campaigns 

o Interview residents on their feelings surrounding Climate Change and sea level 
rise and compile it into a website. These stories and first-hand experiences will 
not only better engage citizenry on the topic but will also show residents that their 
peers are considering this issue.  

o Employ professional artists to create public art works (murals, sculptures, music 
performances) to showcase the issue of coastal hazards. 

o Offer a competition for local students to submit their best climate change artworks 
(poems, songs, paintings, performances).  

§ Include a prize and make sure to credit students for their efforts. 
§ The best pieces can stay on display in Town Hall or another public space 

to continue to raise awareness. 
 

Medium Term  
Seek Trainings 

Preparing municipal government for coastal hazards and disasters 
Even with the greatest scientific information and data at our fingertips, there is still much we do 
not know about planning for climate change in small municipalities. It is crucial for Town staff 
to be versed in not only the impacts of climate change, but also how to communicate the issue to 
constituents, make long-term plans in addressing coastal hazards, and act swiftly in preparation 



 18 

and response to coastal hazard events. Engaging in training resources may open opportunities for 
aligning current work with coastal resilience, thus limiting expenditure of additional financial or 
personnel resources. Proactive training will prevent the disaster of ill-equipped response later on.  
Considerations:  

• The Maine Climate Table59 and NOAA60 offers climate communication trainings and 
workshops online. The Maine Climate Table is especially helpful given its focused 
approach to Maine and its incredible research on what communication methods Mainers 
identify with.  

• The international organization AdaptationCommunity.net is a great resource for seeing 
what the rest of the world’s municipalities are doing to address climate change. They 
offer online trainings and additional literature or resources for engagement.  

• National Center for Disaster Preparedness61 through the Earth Institute of Columbia 
University offers face-to-face, online, and personalized trainings, courses, and webinars. 

• National Preparedness online course catalog62 through FEMA offers extensive 
information on preparing and recovering from disaster.  

• Encourage Town personnel to join the American Society of Adaptation Professionals. 
The organization hosts online webinars based on the adaptation topic of interest, and the 
organization has an ever-expanding list of working professionals to connect with.  

• The American Planning Association is another professional organization that offers 
resources for Town personnel to learn about enacting climate resilience planning in their 
municipality.  
 

Implement Data Action 

Showcasing important data for Town officials and citizens 
Data collection will lend the quantitative lens for evaluating possible climate resilience projects. 
This may inform the determining of metrics of success. Data tools will not only inform Town 
decision making, as residents, businesses, and developers may all base their decision making off 
of these resources. Creating a database of mapping tools and other interactive data interfaces will 
lend well towards garnering support for projects. Additionally, these tools may help level the 
information shared between Town officials and residents, so that all those involved are on the 
same page as to the vulnerabilities and risks associated with coastal hazards.  
Considerations: 

• Creation of a GIS online mapping tool and database of coastal hazard vulnerability for 
the Town. There may be three main topics showcased: social, environmental, and 
infrastructural aspects of coastal hazards in Kittery.  

• Offer additional GIS layers like land use, properties, taxes, historic sites and landmarks, 
critical facilities, socioeconomic data, demographics, impervious surfaces, flooding, high 
tides, storm surge, and shoreline dynamics.  

• Continued development of GIS Story Telling Maps to explain data in relatable ways.  
• Development of a “Risk Dashboard” conveying vulnerabilities associated with coastal 

hazards in Kittery. The COVID-19 Risk Dashboards seen across the country have been 
popular amongst community members seeking to understand the pandemic. A similar 
approach to coastal hazards could be very informative and engaging.   



 19 

• Any other such online platforms that offer an interactive interface may be considered. 
• Suggestions from the Kittery Flood Resilience Checklist: 

o Update shoreland zoning layers and boundary lines on the Town GIS. 
o Amend shoreline zoning map to account for areas that will likely be inundated by 

coastal hazards.  
o Utilize work done by nonprofits and land trusts regarding marsh migration to 

identify areas of Kittery that may be conducive.  
o Identify the number of properties that are impacted in each sea level rise scenario. 
o Identify the values of properties that are impacted in each sea level rise scenario.  

 
Long Term  

Explore Funding Mechanisms 

Leveraging external funding to support coastal resilience efforts 
The most common concern for small municipalities in considering coastal hazards is expense. 
The best way for mitigating this concern is to seek out grant and funding sources. Additionally, 
collaboration with the Southern Maine Planning and Development Commission, Municipal 
Planning Assistance Program, local or regional consulting firms, and academic institutions can 
garner external resources to improve the chances of success in project implementation.  
Considerations: 

• Use available resources, such as the Southern Maine Planning and Development 
Commission, to find funding mechanisms. 

• More information on funding and financing climate adaptation projects can be found 
through the Georgetown Climate Center’s ‘Equitable Adaptation Legal & Policy 
Toolkit’.63 

• List of suggested grants:  
o Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs Coastal Community 

Resilience Grant Program  
o Community Development Block Grant Recovery Program  
o U.S. Army Corps of Engineers grants 
o National Science Foundation programs 
o Natural Resources Conservation Services 
o U.S. Department of Housing grants 
o National Fish and Wildlife Foundation grants 
o NOAA grants  
o FEMA grants 
o Northeast Regional Ocean Council grant  
o Island Institute grants 
o Economic Development Administration funding 

 
Make No Small Plans 

Urban planning and policy resources that work towards coastal resiliency 



 20 

Urban planning is a tool that municipalities have that is already integral to their functioning. By 
reconsidering current zoning and land use practices, implementing new plans, and considering 
innovative approaches to planning, small towns like Kittery can strengthen their resilience to 
coastal hazards.  
Considerations: 

• Look into the creation of an Emergency Response Plan, Hazard Mitigation Plan, Coastal 
Resilience Plan, and/or a Sea-Level Rise Plan. These documents, when implemented in 
conjunction with changes to the Zoning and Land Use Plan, can lead the way for 
municipal resilience. 

o This will also provide opportunity for the Committee to define the Metrics of 
Success. 

o When creating plans, it is imperative to consider populations that are the most 
vulnerable. This may include the elderly and poor, and planners can consult 
community tax maps and census data to better understand where these impacted 
populations may be and how to support them.  

• Use simple, decision-centered, scenario-based planning to improve coastal management. 
A study published in the Journal of the American Planning Association64 found that this 
approach can facilitate enhanced hazard mitigation analysis and policy adoption in local 
master plans.  

o Scenario-based planning involved framing multiple potential circumstances along 
with their respective potential impacts, essentially accounting for uncertainty.  

o This requires a lot of data and mapping to understand what cannot be controlled 
(climate futures) and what can (shoreland area management).  

• Zoning 
o Zoning is the most powerful tool that local governments have to preemptively 

mitigate coastal hazards. The Nature Conservancy and the Georgetown Climate 
Center suggest the following three overlay zone categories for mitigating coastal 
hazards: 

o Protection Zone: For areas with critical infrastructure and dense development with 
few options for adaptation 

§ Rely on hardened flood protection structures for flood protection and 
erosion control 

§ Other resiliency practices are encouraged, such as employing green 
infrastructure for stormwater control 

o Accommodation Zone: For moderately to intensely developed but non-critical 
areas promoting development that considers future SLR  

§ Downzoning to lower impact uses to reduce risk exposure 
§ Strengthening building codes with setback, elevation, freeboard, and 

construction requirements 
§ Limits on structure height and footprint size 
§ Shoreline armoring restricted to soft or natural solutions 

o Conservation Zone: For areas that either provide the greatest natural protection or 
have non-critical structures at the greatest risk of extensive damage 

§ Goal to move development out of these areas to replace with natural 
protection, marsh advancement areas, open space, or public access 



 21 

§ Can be achieved with downzoning to low density, water-dependent 
purposes 

§ Shoreline armoring restricted to natural solutions 
§ Setbacks aim to move new development landward 
§ Rebuilding damaged structures also restricted 
§ Property acquisition and conservation programs focused on this area 

o Or, three main intensity divisions: 
§ Intensely developed areas (IDA)  
§ Limited development areas (LDA)  
§ Resources conservation areas (RCA)  

o Examples of Maine municipalities addressing coastal hazards in their zoning: 
§ Town of York: The Town has a Shoreland Zoning Ordinance with 

specification that include wetlands not contiguous to coastal wetlands that 
are 4+ acres, not just the state threshold of 10+ acres. Also has a Wetland 
Protection Overlay District that regulates wetlands regardless of size.65  

§ City of Portland: At the time of this report, the City of Portland is 
proposing a Coastal Resilience Overlay District (CRO) that would allow 
for alternate calculation of building heights when threshold climate 
resilience and mitigation strategies are met.66  

§ City of Saco: The City has a Floodplain Management ordinance that 
requires three feet of freeboard, which is a higher requirement than the 
state minimum of one foot. Structures within a special flood hazard area, 
based on a 100-year storm event, are to be elevated three feet above base 
flood elevation. These restrictions will also require revision to allow 
building height to increase, thus avoiding “shortening” effects from 
additional base elevation.67  

o Suggestions from the Kittery Flood Resilience Checklist: 
§ Update floodplain ordinance to reflect adoption of the new Flood 

Insurance Rate Map (FIRM). 
§ Modify and strengthen floodplain ordinances through measures such as 

increasing freeboard requirements, extending floodplain beyond 
regulatory 100-year floodplain, establish development standards to reduce 
flood vulnerabilities. 

§ Require low-impact development and green infrastructure in flood-
predicted areas.  

§ Adjust zoning to strengthen protections for marshes and vegetative 
buffers. 

§ Reform septic tank and well requirements to ensure systems are safe in 
flood predicted areas.  

§ Amend cluster development to require open space in flood predicted areas. 
§ Require developers to use stronger stormwater management and design 

standards.  
o As part of this project through the University of New Hampshire Sustainability 

Fellowship, draft ordinances were created and presented as a “launching-point” 
for further zoning discussion. These ordinances are attached as Appendix J.  

• Land Use 



 22 

o The Municipal Planning Assistance Program of the Maine Department of 
Agriculture Conservation and Forestry has issued a Municipal Climate Adaptation 
Guidance Series68 that includes a section on Comprehensive Planning. Here are 
some of the included recommendations: 

§ Conditions and Trends: Include a description of past natural disasters and 
their effects on historic neighborhoods, structures, or culturally significant 
areas. An example of this in Kittery would be how Fort Foster has been 
affected by Nor’easter storms.  

§ Natural Resources: Promote conservation of low-lying undeveloped 
uplands where coastal marshes, beaches, and other intertidal natural 
communities can migrate inland with sea level rise. 

§ Existing Land Use: Establish regular schedule for updating flood maps 
and risk assessment, with provisions for extra mapping when new 
information becomes available that will substantially change high risk 
areas. 

o The Southern Maine Planning & Development Commission offers support and 
technical assistance for communities who wish to include Sea Level Rise chapters 
in their Comprehensive Plan updates.69  

o Suggestions from the Kittery Flood Resilience Checklist: 
§ Integrate language that encourages low impact development and green 

infrastructure. 
§ Prohibit rebuilding or issuing further building permits for properties that 

are repeatedly damaged by flooding or are located in areas subject to 
future flooding, erosion, or marsh migration. This will require measurable 
metrics for determining impermissible repair.  

§ Offer incentives for property owners to implement flood risk reduction 
practices on their property (i.e. elevation of structure, storm water 
retention, etc.). 

• Maximize available National Flood Insurance Program Community Rating System (CRS) 
flooding reduction strategies. This program assists in reducing premium costs for flood 
insurance, while also incentivizing communities to build their resilience.  

o It is highly recommended to use consultants in this process to gain the maximum 
allowable CRS points. 

o It is also recommended to initiate extensive outreach to residents during the CRS 
process so that the community understands the benefits and importance of 
compliance with the program. 

o For example, Sanibel Island in Florida has reached Class 5 rating in CRS.70 This 
has resulted in an annual $2,860,000 reduction in the cost of flood insurance for 
resident policy holders. 

• Consider the intersection of historic preservation and climate adaptation. Urban planners 
may investigate approaches to maintaining the structural and cultural integrity of historic 
buildings and sites.71,72  

• Identify ‘managed retreat’ resources such as those identified by Georgetown’s Adaptation 
Clearinghouse.73 It is crucial for communities to be prepared in the event that coastal 
residences be rendered unhabitable. The process of applying for buy-outs is tedious and 
difficult. By preparing for this in advance, communities will be equipped to relocate 



 23 

residents from unsalvageable residences. They can make arrangements to ease the 
technical transition, so that more time and resources can be spent addressing the 
psychological effects of relocation, of which there can be more issues than in the physical 
movement itself.  

 
Conclusion 
In summary, we know that there are unprecedented hurdles in store for Kittery as sea levels rise 
and storms exacerbate flooding damage. However, there are many ways for the Town of Kittery 
to move towards developing climate and coastal resilience. Of the Key Recommendations listed 
above, there are a few that stand out as imperative next steps.  

Next Steps 

1. Identify:  
1) How many properties are affected in each sea level rise + storm surge scenario 
2) The total valuation of the properties affected in each sea level rise + storm surge 
scenario. 

2. Create online mapping resources. 
3. Engage wider range of Kittery residents in discussion of coastal hazards and what it 

means for our community. 
4. Integrate suggested coastal resilience ordinance alterations into Kittery’s zoning. 
5. Begin the work of creating an Emergency Response Plan, Hazard Mitigation Plan, 

Coastal Resilience Plan, and/or a Sea-Level Rise Plan.  
6. Begin planning for the National Flood Insurance Program Community Rating System 

(CRS).  
 
 
Endnotes

 
1 World Meteorological Organization. (2019). Greenhouse Gas Concentrations in Atmosphere Reach Yet Another 
High. https://public.wmo.int/en/media/press-release/greenhouse-gas-concentrations-atmosphere-reach-yet-another-
high 
2 IPCC, 2013: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth 
Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. 
Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, 
Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1535 pp. 
3 USGCRP, 2017: Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I [Wuebbles, D.J., 
D.W. Fahey, K.A. Hibbard, D.J. Dokken, B.C. Stewart, and T.K. Maycock (eds.)]. U.S. Global Change Research 
Program, Washington, DC, USA, 470 pp., doi: 10.7930/J0J964J6. 
4 NOAA. (2020). Climate Change: Ocean Heat Content. https://www.climate.gov/news-features/understanding-
climate/climate-change-ocean-heat-content 
5 NOAA. (2019). 2018’s Billion Dollar Disasters in Context. https://www.climate.gov/news-features/blogs/beyond-
data/2018s-billion-dollar-disasters-context 
6 FEMA. (2013). Coastal Hazards and Considerations. https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/20130726-1707-
25045-8160/chapter2_rev1.pdf 
7 Wake, C., Knott, J., Lippmann, T., Stampone, M., Ballestero, T., Bjerklie, D., Burakowski, E., Glidden, S., 
Hosseini-Shakib, I., Jacobs, J. (2019). New Hampshire Coastal Flood Risk Summary – Part I: Science. Prepared for 
the New Hampshire Coastal Flood Risk Science and Technical Advisory Panel. Report published by the University 
of New Hampshire, Durham, NH. 



 24 

 
8 Sweet, W.V., Dusek, G., Obeysekera, J., & Marra, J.J. (2018). Patterns and Projections of High Tide Flooding 
Along the US Coastline Using a Common Impact Threshold. NOAA Technical Report NOS CO-OPS 086. National 
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Silver Spring, MD. Available 
at: https://tidesandcurrents.noaa.gov/publications/techrpt86_PaP_of_HTFlooding.pdf. 
9 NOAA. Is Sea Level Rising? https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/sealevel.html 
10 Kossin, J.P., Hall, T., Knutson, T., Kunkel, K.E., Trapp, R.J., Waliser, D.E., & Wehner, M.F. (2017). Extreme 
storms. In: Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I [Wuebbles, D.J., Fahey, 
D.W., Hibbard, K.A., Dokken, D.J., Stewart, B.C., & Maycock, T.K. (eds.)]. U.S. Global Change Research 
Program, Washington, DC, USA, pp. 257-276. doi: http://doi.org/10.7930/J07S7KXX. 
11 NOAA. (2020). What Percentage of the American Population Lives Near the Coast? 
https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/population.html 
12 Island Institute. (2016). Waypoints: Community Indicators for Maine’s Coast & Islands. 
http://www.islandinstitute.org/sites/default/files/Final_Waypoints_01_13_2017.pdf  
13 Climate Change Institute. (2020). Maine’s Climate Future. https://climatechange.umaine.edu/climate-
matters/maines-climate-future/ 
14 Climate Change Institute. (2020). Maine’s Climate Future. https://climatechange.umaine.edu/climate-
matters/maines-climate-future/ 
15 CRS for Community Resilience. Green Guide. https://www.floodsciencecenter.org/products/crs-community-
resilience/green-guide/ 
16 Wake, C., Knott, J., Lippmann, T., Stampone, M., Ballestero, T., Bjerklie, D., Burakowski, E., Glidden, S., 
Hosseini-Shakib, I., Jacobs, J. (2019). New Hampshire Coastal Flood Risk Summary – Part I: Science. Prepared for 
the New Hampshire Coastal Flood Risk Science and Technical Advisory Panel. Report published by the University 
of New Hampshire, Durham, NH.  https://scholars.unh.edu/ersc/210/     
17 Abbie Sherwin. (2017). Maine Flood Resilience Checklist; A self-assessment tool for Maine’s coastal 
communities to evaluate vulnerability to flood hazards and increase resilience. Maine Geological Survey 
Publications. https://digitalmaine.com/mgs_publications/521/ 
18 Wake, C., Knott, J., Lippmann, T., Stampone, M., Ballestero, T., Bjerklie, D., Burakowski, E., Glidden, S., 
Hosseini-Shakib, I., Jacobs, J. (2019). New Hampshire Coastal Flood Risk Summary – Part I: Science. Prepared for 
the New Hampshire Coastal Flood Risk Science and Technical Advisory Panel. Report published by the University 
of New Hampshire, Durham, NH.  https://scholars.unh.edu/ersc/210/     
19 DeConto, R.M. & Pollard, D. (2016). Contribution of Antarctica to Past and Future Sea-Level Rise. Nature, 531, 
591-597. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature17145. 
20 NOAA. Storm Surge Overview. https://www.nhc.noaa.gov/surge/ 
21 Wake, C., Knott, J., Lippmann, T., Stampone, M., Ballestero, T., Bjerklie, D., Burakowski, E., Glidden, S., 
Hosseini-Shakib, I., Jacobs, J. (2019). New Hampshire Coastal Flood Risk Summary – Part I: Science. Prepared for 
the New Hampshire Coastal Flood Risk Science and Technical Advisory Panel. Report published by the University 
of New Hampshire, Durham, NH.  https://scholars.unh.edu/ersc/210/     
22 Wake, C., Knott, J., Lippmann, T., Stampone, M., Ballestero, T., Bjerklie, D., Burakowski, E., Glidden, S., 
Hosseini-Shakib, I., Jacobs, J. (2019). New Hampshire Coastal Flood Risk Summary – Part I: Science. Prepared for 
the New Hampshire Coastal Flood Risk Science and Technical Advisory Panel. Report published by the University 
of New Hampshire, Durham, NH.  https://scholars.unh.edu/ersc/210/     
23 FEMA. Flood Insurance. https://www.fema.gov/national-flood-insurance-program 
24 FEMA. Flood Maps. https://www.fema.gov/flood-maps 
25 U.S. Climate Resilience Toolkit. https://toolkit.climate.gov/ 
26 CRS for Community Resilience. Overview. https://www.floodsciencecenter.org/products/crs-community-
resilience/ 
27 Climate Program Office. https://cpo.noaa.gov/ 
28 Global Change.gov. U.S. Global Change Research Program. https://www.globalchange.gov/ 
29 Georgetown Climate Center. Equitable Adaptation Legal & Policy Toolkit. 
https://www.georgetownclimate.org/adaptation/toolkits/equitable-adaptation-toolkit/introduction.html 
30 Department of Marine Resources. Maine Coastal Program. https://www.maine.gov/dmr/mcp/index.htm 
31 Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry. Municipal Planning Assistance Program. 
https://www.maine.gov/dacf/municipalplanning/index.shtml 
32 Municipal Planning Assistance Program. Planning for Climate Variability. 
https://www.maine.gov/dacf/municipalplanning/technical/climate.shtml 



 25 

 
33 Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry. Maine Floodplain Management Program. 
https://www.maine.gov/dacf/flood/index.shtml 
34 Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry. Maine Geological Survey. 
https://www1.maine.gov/dacf/mgs/hazards/coastal/index.shtml 
35 Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry. Maine Natural Areas Program. 
https://www.maine.gov/dacf/mnap/about/index.htm 
36 Maine Department of Environmental Protection. Maine Climate Hub. 
https://www.maine.gov/dep/sustainability/climate/index.html 
37 Maine Climate Council. https://climatecouncil.maine.gov/ 
38 The University of Maine. Climate Change Institute. https://climatechange.umaine.edu/climate-matters/maines-
climate-future/ 
39 Maine DOT. Environmental Office. https://www.maine.gov/mdot/env/ 
40 Maine Climate Table. https://maineclimatetable.org/ 
41 Southern Maine Planning and Development Commission. Regional Sustainability and Resilience Program. 
https://smpdc.org/sustainabilityresiliency# 
42 Southern Maine Planning and Development Commission. Town of Kittery + Portsmouth Naval Shipyard Joint 
Land Use Study. https://smpdc.org/index.asp?SEC={7425B9C5-DD72-4B0D-997F-
53CC4A8C95F0}&Type=QUICKFORM 
43 New Hampshire Coastal Adaptation Workgroup (CAW). https://www.nhcaw.org/ 
44 Island Institute. http://www.islandinstitute.org/ 
45 York County Emergency Management Agency. (2015). York County Hazard Mitigation Plan.  
https://www.kennebunkmaine.us/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Agenda/_03152017-1336 
46 Kittery, Maine. Climate Adaptation Committee. Resources. https://www.kitteryme.gov/climate-adaptation-
committee/pages/resources 
47 Kittery, Maine. Climate Adaptation Committee. https://www.kitteryme.gov/climate-adaptation-committee 
48 Kittery, Maine. Climate Adaptation Committee. Resources. https://www.kitteryme.gov/climate-adaptation-
committee/pages/resources 
49 Kittery, Maine. Kittery 2015-2025 Comprehensive Plan. https://www.kitteryme.gov/kittery-2015-2025-
comprehensive-plan 
50 Town of Kittery Zoning Code. Chapter 8.3 Emergency Management Agency. https://ecode360.com/29562421 
51 University of New Hampshire. Sustainability Dual Major Capstone Project: Southern Maine Climate Resilience- 
Natural Capital. https://mypages.unh.edu/sust750/muni-resilience-natural  
52 University of New Hampshire. Sustainability Dual Major Capstone Project: Southern Maine Climate Resilience- 
Manufactured Capital. https://mypages.unh.edu/sust750/muni-resilience-manufactured  
53 Abbie Sherwin. (2017). Maine Flood Resilience Checklist; A self-assessment tool for Maine’s coastal 
communities to evaluate vulnerability to flood hazards and increase resilience. Maine Geological Survey 
Publications. https://digitalmaine.com/mgs_publications/521/ 
54 Kittery, Maine. Climate Adaptation Committee. Resources. https://www.kitteryme.gov/climate-adaptation-
committee/pages/resources 
55 AdaptationCommunity.net. Monitoring and Evaluation. https://www.adaptationcommunity.net/monitoring-
evaluation/ 
56 Georgetown Climate Center. (2020). Data, Metrics & Monitoring Tools. 
https://www.georgetownclimate.org/adaptation/toolkits/equitable-adaptation-toolkit/data-metrics-monitoring-
tools.html 
57 Maine Climate Table. Climate Communications Training. https://maineclimatetable.org/communications-
workshops/ 
58 NOAA. Digital Coast. Risk Communication. https://coast.noaa.gov/digitalcoast/topics/risk-communication.html 
59 Maine Climate Table. Climate Communications Training. https://maineclimatetable.org/communications-
workshops/ 
60 NOAA. Digital Coast. Risk Communication. https://coast.noaa.gov/digitalcoast/topics/risk-communication.html 
61 Earth Institute. National Center for Disaster Preparedness. https://ncdp.columbia.edu/practice/training-
education/online-face-to-face-training/ 
62 FEMA. Training. https://training.fema.gov/ 
63 Georgetown Climate Center. Financing & Funding Tools: Paying for Equitable Adaptation. 
https://www.georgetownclimate.org/adaptation/toolkits/equitable-adaptation-toolkit/financing-funding-tools-paying-
for-equitable-adaptation.html 



 26 

 
64 Norton, Richard K., Stephen Buckman, Guy A. Meadows, and Zachary Rable. “Using Simple, Decision-
Centered, Scenario-Based Planning to Improve Local Coastal Management.” Journal of the American Planning 
Association 85, no. 4 (October 2, 2019): 405–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944363.2019.1627237.  
65 Town of York, Maine. (2020). Zoning Ordinances. 
https://www.yorkmaine.org/DocumentCenter/View/902/Zoning-Ordinance-PDF 
66 http://www.portlandmaine.gov/DocumentCenter/View/1080/Chapter-14-Land-Use---Revised-12152019?bidId= 
67 City of Saco, Maine. Zoning Code. http://ecode360.com/32483142 
68 Stephanie Carver. Greater Portland Council of Governments. Municipal Climate Adaptation Guidance Series: 
Comprehensive Planning. 
https://www.maine.gov/dacf/municipalplanning/docs/CAGS_06_Comprehensive_Planning.pdf 
69 Southern Maine Planning and Development Commission. Sea Level Rise. https://smpdc.org/sealevel 
70 CRS for Community Resilience. Sanibel Uses CRS Consultants to Advance and Outreach to Garner Support for 
Higher Erosion Control Standards. https://www.floodsciencecenter.org/products/crs-community-resilience/success-
stories/sanibel-florida/ 
71 National Trust for Historic Preservation. Climate and Culture. https://savingplaces.org/climate-and-culture 
72 Advisory Council on Historic Preservation. Climate Adaptation and Resilience. 
https://www.achp.gov/initiatives/sustainability-climate-resilience/climate-adaptation-resilience 
73 Adaptation Clearinghouse. Georgetown Climate Center. https://www.adaptationclearinghouse.org/networks/state-
government-professionals/managed-retreat.html 



 

Appendix A: Coastal View 3.9 ft Sea Level Rise & Storm Surge Scenario



 

Appendix B: Coastal View 6.1 ft Sea Level Rise & Storm Surge Scenario 



 

Appendix C: Coastal View 10.9 ft Sea Level Rise & Storm Surge Scenario



 

Appendix D: Insets 3.9 ft Sea Level Rise & Storm Surge Scenario 

  



 

Appendix E: Insets 6.1 ft Sea Level Rise & Storm Surge Scenario 

  



 

Appendix F: Insets 10.9 ft Sea Level Rise & Storm Surge Scenario 



 

Appendix G: Portsmouth Naval Shipyard 3.9 ft Sea Level Rise & Storm Surge Scenario 



 

Appendix H: Portsmouth Naval Shipyard 6.1 ft Sea Level Rise & Storm Surge Scenario 



 

Appendix I: Portsmouth Naval Shipyard 10.9 ft Sea Level Rise & Storm Surge Scenario



Kittery Coastal Hazard Resilience: Ordinance Recommendations and Examples 

Zoning is the most powerful tool that local governments have to preemptively mitigate coastal 
hazards. The Nature Conservancy and the Georgetown Climate Center suggest the following 
three overlay zone categories for mitigating coastal hazards: 

o Protection Zone: For areas with critical infrastructure and dense development
with few options for adaptation

§ Rely on hardened flood protection structures for flood protection and
erosion control

§ Other resiliency practices are encouraged, such as employing green
infrastructure for stormwater control

§ Suggested Overlay Zones for this found on page 2 onward

o Accommodation Zone: For moderately to intensely developed but non-critical
areas promoting development that considers future SLR

§ Downzoning to lower impact uses to reduce risk exposure
§ Strengthening building codes with setback, elevation, freeboard, and

construction requirements
§ Limits on structure height and footprint size
§ Shoreline armoring restricted to soft or natural solutions
§ Kittery’s Shoreland Overlay Zone could fit under this category with

editing

o Conservation Zone: For areas that either provide the greatest natural protection
or have non-critical structures at the greatest risk of extensive damage

§ Goal to move development out of these areas to replace with natural
protection, marsh advancement areas, open space, or public access

§ Can be achieved with downzoning to low density, water-dependent
purposes

§ Shoreline armoring restricted to natural solutions
§ Setbacks aim to move new development landward
§ Rebuilding damaged structures also restricted
§ Property acquisition and conservation programs focused on this area
§ Kittery’s Resource Protection Overlay Zone could fit under this category

with editing

Or, three main intensity divisions: 

o Intensely developed areas (IDA)
o Limited development areas (LDA)
o Resources conservation areas (RCA)

$SSHQGL[�-��'UDIW�2UGLQDQFHV��



Coastal Overlay Zone (Example Code: Greenwich, CT) 

 

(a) Purposes  

 

A. The purposes of the zone shall include the following:   

 

(1) To ensure that the development, preservation or use of the land and water resources of 

the coastal area proceeds in a manner consistent with the capability of the land and water 

resources to support such development, preservation or use without significantly 

disrupting the natural environment;  

(2) To preserve and enhance coastal resources;  

(3) To give high priority and preferences to uses and facilities which are dependent upon 

proximity to the water or the shorelands immediately adjacent to marine and tidal waters;  

(4) To limit the immediate shorefront properties to the following principal uses: 

Residential and water dependent uses;  

(5) To limit the potential impact of coastal flooding and erosion patterns on coastal 

development so as to minimize damage to and destruction of life and property and to 

reduce the necessity of public expenditure to protect future development from such 

hazards;  

(6) To encourage public access to the water in both a physical and visual manner;  

(7) To encourage the development of recreational facilities in the coastal area; 

(8) To encourage fishing and recreational boating harbor space, and the related uses and 

facilities which support those activities.  

 

(b) Zone Boundary The area subject to these regulations shall include all portions of Kittery 

within the Coastal Overlay Zone as delineated on map on file. 

 

(c) Coastal Site Plan Review, Approval, and Exemptions.  

 

A. Coastal Site Plan review and approval by the Planning Board and, as applicable, by 

the Planning Board shall be required for all projects and activities as defined fully or 



partially within the Coastal Overlay Zone. These activities shall include but not limited to 

all applications for building permits, subdivisions, rezoning, special permits, special 

exceptions, variances, and municipal improvements. Gardening, grazing and harvesting 

of crops and interior modifications to buildings shall be exempt from all coastal site plan 

review requirements. The following activities may be exempt from coastal site plan 

review.  

 

(1) Minor additions to or minor modifications of existing buildings or detached accessory 

buildings  

(2) Construction of new or modification of walks, decks, patios, driveways, swimming 

pools, tennis courts, docks and detached accessory buildings or other structures incidental 

to the enjoyment and maintenance of residential property.  

(3) Construction of new or modification of existing on premise structures including 

fences, walls, pedestrian walks and other impervious surfaces, underground utility 

connections, essential electric, gas, telephone, water and sewer service lines, signs and 

such other minor structures as will not substantially alter the natural character of coastal 

resources or restrict access along the public beach.  

(4) Construction of an individual single family residential structure, except when such 

structure is located on an island not connected to the mainland by an existing road bridge 

or causeway or except when such structure is in or within one hundred feet of the 

following coastal resource areas: tidal wetlands, coastal bluffs and escarpments, beaches 

and dunes.   

(5) Activities conducted for the specific purpose of conserving or preserving soil, 

vegetation, water, fish, shellfish, wildlife, and other coastal land and water resources.  

 

B. Administrative Review  

 

(1) All activities as indicated in 1 through 5 above shall be subject to a review by the 

Town Planner or their designee prior to the issuance of a building permit in order to 

determine their consistency with standards. An activity determined to be potentially 

inconsistent with any of these standards shall have a formal review by the Commission. 



An activity determined to be consistent with all of the aforementioned standards shall be 

exempt from coastal site plan review requirements.  

(2) An affidavit certifying that all abutting property owners have been notified about the 

application shall be submitted with any application for review.  

 

C. Procedure  

 

A coastal site plan shall include the following information: 

 

(1) A plan showing the location and spatial relationship of coastal resources on and 

contiguous to the site.  

(2) A description of the entire project with appropriate plans, indicating project location, 

design, timing and methods of construction.  

(3) An assessment of the capability of the resources to accommodate the proposed use.  

(4) An assessment of the suitability of the project for the proposed site.  

(5) An evaluation of the potential beneficial and adverse impacts of the project and a 

description of proposed methods to mitigate adverse effects on coastal resources.  

(6) A demonstration that the adverse impacts of the proposed activity upon coastal 

resources and future water dependent development activities are acceptable.  

(7) A demonstration that the proposed activity is consistent with the goals and policies of 

the Town of Kittery 

  

D. Standards  

 

The Planning Board, in reviewing coastal site plans, may take into consideration the 

recommendations of any Town agencies or outside specialists with which it consults in 

determining whether the proposed activity:  

 

(1) Is in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan.  

(2) Preserves important open space and other features of the natural environment.  

(3) Does not materially obstruct significant waterfront views.  



(4) Does not unreasonably adversely affect storm drainage, sewerage disposal or other 

municipal services.  

(5) Is consistent with all the above purposes as authorized by the Coastal Management 

Act.  

(6) Potential adverse impacts as enumerated in the Coastal Management Act on both 

coastal resources and future water dependent development activities may be acceptable 

upon a Commission finding that the benefits of the proposed activity to the public are 

greater than the adverse impacts. In determining the acceptability of the above, the 

Commission shall consider:  

 

(a) The characteristics of the site, including the location and condition of any of 

the coastal resources.  

(b) The potential effects, both beneficial and adverse, of the proposed activity on 

coastal resources and future water dependent opportunities.  

  



Flood Hazard Overlay Zone (Example Code: Greenwich, CT) 

 

Application for review and certification of projects in regard to the FHO zone standards shall be 

initiated through the office of Planning and Development. Permits are required for all proposed 

development in any area of special flood hazard.   

 

(a) Purpose  

 

The FHO zone is intended to add additional safeguards to those areas of Kittery subject to 

riverine and coastal flooding as shown on the Flood Insurance Rate Maps as indicated by FEMA 

and the Town of Kittery, and as amended from time to time. The zone is not intended to remove 

existing permitted uses as stated in these Regulations. It is the purpose of this section to:  

 

(1) Promote the public health, safety and general welfare and to minimize public and 

private losses due to flood conditions in specific areas.  

(2) Restrict or prohibit uses which are dangerous to health, safety and property due to 

water or erosion hazards, or which result in damaging increases in erosion or in flood 

heights or velocities.  

(3) Require that uses and structures vulnerable to floods, including facilities which serve 

such uses, be protected against flood damage at the time of initial construction.  

(4) Control the alteration of natural flood plains, stream channels, and natural protective 

barriers which are involved in the accommodation of flood waters.  

(5) Control filling, grading, dredging and other development which may increase erosion 

or flood damage.  

(6) Prevent or regulate the construction of flood barriers which will unnaturally divert 

flood waters or which may increase flood hazards to other lands.  

 

(b) Objectives 

 

The objectives of this section are to:  

 



(1) Protect human life and health.  

(2) Minimize the expenditures of public money for costly flood control projects.  

(3) Minimize the need for rescue and relief efforts associated with flooding which are 

generally undertaken at the expense of the general public.  

(4) Minimize prolonged business interruptions.  

(5) Minimize damage to public facilities and utilities such as water and gas mains, 

electric, telephone and sewer lines, streets and bridges located in flood plains.  

(6) Help maintain a stable tax base by providing for the sound use and development of 

flood prone areas in such a manner as to minimize flood blight areas.  

(7) Insure that potential home buyers are notified that property is in a flood hazard area.  

 

(c) Definitions  

 

The following definitions are for use in this section only: 

 

(1) Addition to an Existing Building - means any walled and roofed expansion to the 

perimeter of a building in which the addition is connected by a common load - bearing 

wall other than a fire wall. Any walled and roofed addition which is connected by a fire 

wall or is separated by independent perimeter load-bearing walls is considered new 

construction.  

(2) Administrator - means the Federal Insurance Administrator, to whom the Federal 

Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) has delegated the administration of the 

National Flood Insurance Program, (NFIP).  

(3) Appeal - means a request for a review of the Code Enforcement Officer’s 

interpretation of any provision of this section or a request for a variance.  

(4) Area of Special Flood Hazard - is the land in the flood plain within a community 

subject to a one percent or greater chance of flooding in any given year. On the Flood 

Insurance Rate Map (FIRM), the flood zones are delineated as zones A, AE and VE. The 

determination of flood hazard areas shall be based on the flood elevation shown on the 

FIRM map. Special Flood Hazard Zones shall also include areas where the land surface 

elevation is lower than the base flood elevations as shown in the Flood Insurance Study, 



and the area is not protected from flooding by a natural or man-made feature. In no case 

shall the regulated area be closer to the source of flooding than that shown on the FEMA 

maps without revising or amending the maps in accordance with FEMA procedures.  

(5) Base Flood (100-year flood event) - The “100-year flood” is confusing because it 

leads people to believe that it only happens once every 100 years. The term “100-year 

flood” is sometimes used to simplify the definition of a flood that statistically has a 1% 

chance (or 1-in-100 chance) of occurring in any given year. The technical term used by 

hydrologists for this extreme hydrologic event is the 1% annual chance flood1and is 

based on the probability that the given event will be equaled or exceeded in any given 

year. The 1% annual chance flood is calculated for a single year. However, one might be 

interested to know the probability of the 1% annual chance flood over a longer time 

period – say the 30-year lifetime of a standard mortgage on an individual property. The 

probability of 1% annual chance flood occurring over a 30-year period is 26%!2  

(6) Base Flood Elevation (BFE) – means the elevation reached by the base flood, also 

known as the 100-year flood event, referred to the vertical datum of the community’s 

Flood Insurance Rate Map.   

(7) Basement – means that portion of a building having its floor subgrade (below ground 

level) on all sides.  

(8) Breakaway Wall - means a wall that is not part of the structural support of the 

building and is intended through its design and construction to collapse under specific 

lateral loading forces without causing damage to the elevated portion of the building or 

the supporting foundation system.  

(9) Building - means any structure build for support, shelter or enclosure for any 

occupancy or storage.  

(10) Coastal High Hazard Area - means the area of special flood hazard subject to high 

velocity waters caused by, but not limited to, storms and hurricane wave wash. The area 

is designated on a FIRM as Zone VE.  

 
1 i) USGS, Floods: Recurrence Intervals and 100-year floods. https://water.usgs.gov/edu/100yearflood.html; 
  ii) USGS, Questions and answers about floods. https://water.usgs.gov/edu/qafloods.html 
 
2 Statistical analysis to calculate these values is provided at Geology Labs-On-line 
Project: www.sciencecourseware.com/VirtualRiver/FloodingDemo/Files/page13.html 
 



(11) Development - means any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, 

including, but not limited to the construction of buildings or structures; the construction 

of additions, alterations or substantial improvements to buildings or structures; the 

placement of buildings or structures; mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, 

excavation or drilling operations or storage of equipment; the storage, deposition, or 

extraction of materials; and the installation, repair or removal of public or private sewage 

disposal systems or water supply facilities.   

(12) Elevated Building - means a building without a basement built to have the lowest 

floor elevated the above ground level by means of fill, solid foundation perimeter walls, 

pilings, columns (posts and piers), shearwalls, or breakaway walls, as allowed under 

applicable standards.  

(13) Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision - means a manufactured home 

park or subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which 

the manufactured home are to be affixed (including, as a minimum, the installation of 

utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete 

pads). 

(14) Expansion to an Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision - means the 

preparation of additional sites by the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on 

which the manufacturing homes are to be affixed (including the installation of utilities, 

the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads).  

(15) Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) - is the federal agency that 

administers the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP).   

(16) Flood or Flooding - means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete 

inundation of normally dry land areas due to the overflow of inland or tidal water and/or 

the unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source.  

(17) Flood Insurance Rate Map - means an official map of a community on which the 

Federal Emergency Management Agency has delineated both the areas of special flood 

hazard and the applicable risk premium zones.  

(18) Flood Insurance Study (FIS) - is the official report by the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency. The report contains flood profiles as well as the Flood Insurance 

Rate Map (FIRM) and the water surface elevation of the base flood.  



(19) Floodway - means the channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land 

areas that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively 

increasing the water surface elevation more than one foot.  

(20) Floor - means the top surface of an enclosed area in a building (including basement) 

i.e. top of slab in concrete slab construction or top of wood flooring in wood frame 

construction. The term does not include the floor of a garage used solely for parking of 

vehicles.  

(21) Functionally Dependent Facility - means a facility which cannot be used for its 

intended purpose unless it is located in close proximity to water. The term includes only 

docking facilities, port facilities that are necessary for the loading and unloading of cargo 

or passengers, and ship building and ship repair facilities. The term does not include 

seafood processing facilities, long-term storage, manufacturing, sales or service facilities. 

(22) Free Board – the distance from the water surface to the top of the facility. It provides 

a factor of safety usually expressed in feet above a flood level for purposes of flood plain 

management. Freeboard tends to compensate for the many unknown factors that could 

contribute to flood heights greater than the height calculated for a selected size flood and 

floodway conditions, such as wave action, bridge openings and the hydrological effect of 

urbanization of the watershed.  

(22.1) Grade Plane, Flood Zone – A reference plane from which to measure the 

number of stories, height, and floor area of dwelling units in residential zones 

within the Flood Hazard Overlay Zone. The flood zone grade plane shall be 

measured from two feet (2’) below the Base Flood Elevation. 

(23) Historic Structure - means any structure that is:  

(a) Listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places; listing 

maintained by the Department of the Interior) or preliminarily determined by the 

Secretary of the Interior as meeting the requirements for individual listing on the National 

Register;  

(b) Is part of a Local Historic District;  

(c) Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as 

contributing to the historic significance of a registered historic district or a district 

preliminarily determined by the Secretary to qualify as a registered historic district; 



Individually listed on a state inventory of historic places in states with historic 

preservation programs which have been approved by the Secretary of the Interior; or  

(d) Individually listed on a local inventory of historic places in communities with 

historic preservation programs that have been certified either:  

(1) By an approved state program as determined by the Secretary of the 

Interior or  

(2) Directly by the Secretary of the Interior in states without approved 

programs. 

(24) Lowest Floor - means the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area (including 

basement). An unfinished or flood resistant enclosure, usable, solely for parking of 

vehicles, building access or storage, in an area other than a basement area is not 

considered a building’s lowest floor.  

(25) Manufactured Home - means a structure, transportable in one or more sections, 

which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to be used with or without a 

permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities. The term also includes 

recreational vehicles, park trailers, travel and recreational trailers, and similar 

transportable structures placed on a site for 180 consecutive days or longer and intended 

to be improved property.   

(26) Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision - means a parcel, or contiguous parcels of 

land divided into two or more manufactured home lots for rent or sale. 

(27) Market Value - means the market value of the structure shall be determined by the 

appraised value of the structure using the cost approach to value method prior to the start 

of the initial repair or improvement, or in the case of damage, the value of the structure 

prior to the damage occurring.  

(28) Mean Sea Level - means, for purposes of the National Flood Insurance Program, the 

North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) of 1988 or other datum, to which base flood 

elevations shown on the community’s Flood Insurance Rate Map are referenced.  

(29) National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) - National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 

1929 (NGVD 29) – an obsolete vertical datum, superseded by the North American 

Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88), shall only be used when base flood elevations 

shown on the community’s Flood Insurance Rate Map are referenced thereto.  



(30) New Construction - means structure for which the “start of construction” 

commenced on or after the effective date of this section.  

(31) New Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision - means a manufactured home park or 

subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the 

manufactured homes are to be affixed (including at a minimum, the installation of 

utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete 

pads). 

(32) Recreational Vehicle - means a vehicle which is:  

a) built on a single chassis,  

b) 400 square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal projection,  

c) designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light duty truck; and, 

d) designed primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling, but as temporary living 

quarters for recreational, camping travel, or seasonal use.  

(33) Regulatory Floodway - means the channel of a river or other watercourse and the 

adjacent land areas that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without 

cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than one (1) foot.  

(34) Riverine - means relating to, formed by, or resembling a river (including tributaries), 

stream, brook, etc.  

(35) Sand Dunes - means naturally occurring accumulations of sand ridges or mounds 

landward of the beach.  

(36) Special Flood Hazard Areas - the determination of flood hazard areas shall be based 

on the flood elevation shown on the FIRM map in conjunction with an up-to-date and 

accurate topographical survey of the site a Licensed Professional Land Surveyor. Special 

Flood Hazard areas shall also include areas where the land surface elevation is lower than 

the base flood elevations as shown in the Flood Insurance Study, and the area is not 

protected from flooding by a natural or man-made feature. In no case shall the regulated 

area be closer to the source of flooding than that shown on the FEMA maps without 

revising or amending the maps in accordance with FEMA procedures.  

(37) Start of Construction - for other than new construction or substantial improvements 

under the Coastal Barrier Resources Act (P.L. 97-348), includes substantial improvement, 

and means the date the building permit was issued, provided the actual start of 



construction, repair, reconstruction, or improvement was within 180 days of the permit 

date. The actual start means the first placement or permanent construction of a structure 

(including a manufactured home) on a site such as the pouring of slabs or footings, 

installation of piles, construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation 

or placement of a manufactured home on a foundation. Permanent construction does not 

include land preparations, such as clearing, grading and filling; nor does it include the 

installation of streets and/or walkways; nor does it include excavation for a basement, 

footings, piers or foundations or the erection of temporary forms; nor does it include the 

installation of streets and/or walkways; nor does it include excavation for a basement, 

footings, piers or foundation or the erection of temporary forms; nor does it include the 

installation on the property or accessory buildings, such as garages or sheds not occupied 

as dwelling units or not part of the main structure. For a substantial improvement, the 

actual start of construction means the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other 

structural part of a building, whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions 

of the structure.  

(38) Structure - means a walled and roofed building that is principally above ground, a 

manufactured home, a gas or liquid storage tank, or other man-made facilities or 

infrastructures.  

(39) Substantial Damage - means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby 

the cost of restoring the structure to its before damaged condition would equal or exceed 

50% of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred.  

(40) Substantial Improvement - means any combination of repairs, reconstruction, 

alteration, or improvements to a structure taking place during the life of a structure, in 

which the cumulative costs equals or exceeds fifty percent of the market value of the 

structure. The market value of the structure should be:  

(1) the appraised value of the structure (using the cost approach to value) prior to 

the start of construction of the initial repair or improvement, or  

(2) in the case of damage, the value of the structure prior to the damage occurring. 

This term includes structures that have incurred "substantial damage," regardless 

of the actual repair work performed. The start date for cumulative costs is the 

effective date of the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) that rendered the structure 



non-compliant. For purposes of this definition, “Substantial Improvement” is 

considered to occur when the first alteration, after being rendered non-compliant, 

of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of the building commences, 

whether or not that alteration affects the extended dimensions of the structure. 

The term, Substantial Improvement, does not however, include any improvement 

project required to comply with existing health, sanitary, or safety code 

specifications which have been previously identified by the local code 

enforcement official, and which are the minimum necessary to assure safe living 

conditions. Separate conditions govern any alteration of a historic structure listed 

on the National Register of Historical Places of the State Inventory of Historic 

Places.  

(41) Variance - is a grant of relief from the requirements of this ordinance which permits 

construction in a manner otherwise prohibited by this ordinance where specific 

enforcement would result in unnecessary hardship.  

(42) Violation – means a failure of a structure or other development to be fully compliant 

with the community’s floodplain management regulations. A structure or other 

development without required permits, lowest floor elevation documentation, 

floodproofing certificates or required floodway encroachment calculations is presumed to 

be in violation until such time as that documentation is provided.  

(43) Water Surface Elevation - means the height of various magnitudes and frequencies 

in the flood plains of coastal or riverine areas, with respect to the vertical datum to which 

the community’s Flood Insurance Rate Map is referenced.  

 

(d) General Provisions  

 

(1) This section shall apply to all areas of special flood hazard within the jurisdiction or 

the Town of Kittery. 

(2) The areas of special flood hazard identified by the Federal Emergency Management 

Agency (FEMA) in its Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM) and other supporting data 

applicable to the Town of Kittery, and any subsequent revisions thereto, are adopted by 

reference and declared to be a part of this regulation. The area of special flood hazard 



includes any area shown on the FIRM as Zones A, AE, and VE, including areas 

designated as a floodway on a FIRM. Zone VE is also identified as a Coastal High 

Hazard Area. In no case shall the regulated area be closer to the source of flooding than 

that shown on the FEMA maps without revising or amending the maps in accordance 

with FEMA procedures.  

(3) Establishment of a floodplain development permit. A development permit shall be 

required by the Planning Board in conformance with the provisions of this section prior 

to the commencement of any development activities.  

(4) No structure or land shall hereafter be located, extended, converted, or structurally 

altered without full compliance with the terms of this regulation and other applicable 

regulations.  

(5) This regulation is not intended to repeal, abrogate, or impair any existing easements, 

covenants, or deed restrictions. However, where this regulation and another conflict or 

overlap, which imposes the more stringent restrictions shall prevail.  

(6) In the interpretation and application of this regulation all provisions shall be:  

a) Considered as minimum requirements,  

b) Liberally construed in favor of the governing body, and  

c) Deemed neither to limit nor repeal any powers granted to the Town.  

(7) The degree of flood protection required by this ordinance is considered reasonable for 

regulatory purposes and is based on scientific and engineering consideration. Longer 

floods can and will occur on rare occasions. Flood heights may be increased by manmade 

or natural causes. This regulation does not imply that land outside the areas of special 

flood hazard or uses permitted within such areas will be free from flooding or flood 

damages. This ordinance shall not create liability on the part of the Town or any officer 

or employee thereof for any flood damages that result from reliance on this ordinance or 

any administrative decision lawfully made thereunder.  

(8) Portion of Structure in Flood Zone - If any portion of a structure lies within the 

Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA), the entire structure is considered to be in the SFHA. 

The entire structure must meet the construction requirements of the flood zone. The 

structure includes any attached additions, garages, sunrooms, or any other structure 

attached to the main structure.  



(9) Structures in Two Flood Zones - If a structure lies within two or more flood zones, the 

construction standards of the most restrictive zone apply to the entire structure. The 

structure includes any attached additions, garages, sunrooms, or any other structure 

attached to the main structure.  

(10) Severability - If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of 

this regulation should be declared invalid for any reason whatsoever, such decision shall 

not affect the remaining portions of this regulation, which shall remain in full force and 

effect; and to this end the provisions of this regulation are hereby declared to be 

severable.  

 

(e) Administration  

 

(1) The Code Enforcement Officer is hereby appointed to administer and implement the 

provisions of this regulation.  

(2) Where required under this regulation, a registered professional engineer or architect 

shall certify that design and methods of construction are in accordance with accepted 

standards of practice for meeting the provisions of this regulation. Such certification must 

be provided to the Code Enforcement Officer.  

(3) Prior to any development activities, application for any development  shall be made to 

Planning & Development. Such application shall be accompanied by four sets of plans, 

done by a Licensed Professional Engineer in accordance with State Statutes, drawn to 

scale showing, at a minimum, the property lines and location of the parcel; existing and 

proposed contours; existing or proposed structures, fill, storage of materials or 

equipment, drainage facilities and the location of the foregoing. This following 

information shall also be submitted  

a) Application Stage: Elevation in relation to mean sea level of the proposed 

lowest floor (including basement) of all structures.  

b) Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any non-residential structure 

will be flood proofed.  

c) Description of the extent to which any watercourse will be altered or relocated 

as a result of proposed development.  



d) A statement as to whether or not the proposed alterations to an existing 

structure meet the criteria of the substantial improvement definition.  

e) A statement as to whether there will be dry access to the structure during the 

100- year storm event.  

f) Certification as to flood proofing.  

g) Certification as to the provisions governing fully enclosed areas below base 

flood elevation, if the minimum design criteria is not used.  

h) Certification as to floodway heights. 

i) Certification as to breakaway walls. If the design criteria is not utilized then the 

design and construction methods must be certified as explained. 

j) Certification as to the structural anchoring provisions.  

k) Construction Stage: Upon completion of the applicable portion of construction, 

the applicant shall provide the Codde Enforcement Officer with verification by a 

Licensed Land Surveyor of the as-built lowest floor elevation, defined as follows:  

i) In the A zone: The top of the lowest floor (including basement);  

ii) In the V zone: The lowest point of the lowest supporting horizontal 

member (excluding pilings or columns); and  

iii) Floodproofed structures: The elevation to which the flood proofing is 

effective. 

iv) Compliance: Deficiencies in the lowest floor elevations shall be 

corrected by the permit holder immediately and prior to further 

progressive work being permitted to proceed. Failure to submit an 

acceptable survey or failure to make corrections required hereby shall be 

caused for issuance of a stopwork order. Final as-built plans of the 

finished project will be certified by a Licensed Engineer or Architect of 

Record as appropriate in addition to the confirmation of lowest floor 

elevation by a Licensed Land Surveyor.  

l) The Code Enforcement Officer, in the administration of this regulation shall 

perform the following duties, among others:  

i) Review all permit applications to determine whether proposed building 

sites will be reasonably safe from flooding.  



ii) Review all development permits to assure that the requirements of this 

regulation have been satisfied.  

iii) Advise permittee that additional Federal or State permits may be 

required, and if specific Federal or State permit requirements are known, 

require that copies of such permits be provided and maintained on file 

with the  building permit. Such additional permit requirements may 

include, but not be limited to: Stream Channel Encroachment Line Permit, 

Coastal Area Management Permit, Water Diversion Permit, Dam Safety 

Permit, Corps of Engineers 404 Permit.  

iv) Notify the regional planning agency and the affected municipality at 

least 35 days prior to the public hearing if any change of regulation or use 

of a flood zone will affect an area within 500 feet of another municipality.  

v) Notify adjacent communities and the Department of Environmental 

Protection, Inland Water Resources Management Division prior to any 

alteration or relocation of a watercourse and submit evidence of such 

notification to the Federal Emergency Management Agency.  

vi) Assure that maintenance is provided within the altered or relocated 

portion of said watercourse so that the flood carrying capacity is not 

diminished.  

vii) Record the elevation (in relation to mean sea level) of the lowest floor 

(including basement) of all new or substantially improved structures. 

viii) Record the elevation (in relation to mean sea level) to which the new 

or substantially improved structures have been flood proofed.  

ix) Obtain and maintain all certificates required under this regulation and 

assure that they meet standards.  

x) Make the necessary interpretation, where needed, as to the exact 

location of boundaries of the areas of special flood hazard (for example, 

where there appears to be a conflict between a mapped boundary and 

actual field conditions). The person contesting the location of the 

boundary shall be given a reasonable opportunity to appeal the 

interpretation as provided in this article.  



xi) Obtain review and reasonably utilize any base flood elevation and 

floodway data available from a Federal, State or other source in order to 

administer provisions when base flood elevation data or floodway data 

have not been provided. Maintain all records pertaining to the provisions 

of this section. 

xiii) Review plans for adequacy of breakaway walls in Coastal High 

Hazard Areas.  

(f) Provisions for Flood Hazard Reduction 

 

General Standards: In all areas of special flood hazard the following provisions shall apply:  

 

(1) New construction and substantial improvements shall be anchored to prevent floatation, 

collapse or lateral movement of the structure resulting from hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads, 

including the effects of buoyancy;  

(2) New construction and substantial improvements shall be constructed with materials resistant 

to flood damage.  

(3) New construction or substantial improvements shall be constructed using methods and 

practices that minimize flood damage.  

(4) Electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, air conditioning equipment, and other service 

facilities shall be designed and/or located so as to prevent water from entering or accumulating 

within the components during conditions of flooding. 

(5) New and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate 

infiltration of flood waters into the systems and discharges from the system into flood waters;  

(6) New and replacement sanitary sewage system shall be designed to minimize or eliminate 

infiltration of flood waters into the systems and discharges from the system into flood waters;  

(7) On-site waste disposal systems shall be located and constructed to avoid impairment to them 

or contamination from them during flooding of a frequency determined by the State and Local 

Department of Health.  

(8) In any portion of a watercourse which is altered or relocated the flood carrying capacity shall 

be maintained;  



(9) Manufactured Homes: All manufactured homes including those located outside of a 

manufactured home park or subdivision, in a new manufactured home park or subdivision, in an 

existing manufactured home park or subdivision, in an expansion to an existing manufactured 

home park or subdivision, or in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision on which a 

manufactured home has incurred substantial damage as a result of a flood, (including recreational 

vehicles placed on a site for 180 consecutive days or longer) to be placed or substantially 

improved shall be:  

a) Elevated so that the lowest floor is one foot above the base flood elevation, in 

accordance with this regulation.  

b) Placed on a permanent foundation which itself is securely anchored and to 

which the structure is securely anchored so that it will resist floatation, lateral 

movement, and hydrostatic and hydrodynamic pressures. Anchoring may include, 

but is not limited to, the use of over-the-top or frame ties to ground anchors.  

c) Installed using methods and practices which minimize flood damage. Elevation 

construction standards include piling foundations placed no more than 10 feet 

apart, and the provision of reinforcement for piers more than six feet above 

ground level. Work within a Special Flood Hazard Area, but outside the 

Floodway must not result in an increase in the Base Flood Elevation of more than 

0.1 foot.  

d) Adequate access and drainage should be provided.  

e) Meet all the construction standards for Zones A and AE.  

f) Recreational vehicles shall either be on the site for fewer than 180 consecutive 

days and be fully licensed and ready for highway use. A recreational vehicle is 

ready for highway use if it is on its wheels or jacking system, is attached to the 

site only by quick disconnect type utilities and security devices and has no 

permanently attached additions.  

(10) Standards for Streams without Established Base Flood Elevations and/or Flooding: The 

Code Enforcemdent Officer shall obtain, review and reasonably utilize any base flood elevation 

and floodway data available from a Federal, State or other source, including data developed 

pursuant to this regulation, as criteria for requiring that new construction, substantial 

improvements, or other development in Zone A on Kittery’s FIRM meet the standards.  



a) In A Zones where base flood elevations have been determined, but before a 

floodway is designated, no new construction, substantial improvement, or other 

development (including fill) shall be permitted which will increase base flood 

elevations more than one (1) foot at any point along the watercourse when all 

anticipated development is considered cumulatively with the proposed 

development.  

b) Should data be requested and/or provided, the Town shall adopt a regulatory 

floodway based on the principle that the floodway must be able to convey the 

waters of the base flood without increasing the water surface elevation more than 

one (1) foot at any point along the watercourse.  

(11) Specific Standards: In all areas of special flood hazard A and AE where base flood elevation 

data has been provided the following provision shall apply:  

a) Residential Construction. New construction or substantial improvement of any 

residential structure shall have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated at 

least to one (1) foot above the base flood elevation.  

b) Non-Residential Construction. New construction or substantial improvement of 

any commercial, industrial, or non-residential structure located in A and AE 

Zones shall have the lowest floor including basement, elevated at least to one (1) 

foot above the level of the base flood elevation.  

c) Non-Residential Structures located in all A and AE Zones may be flood-

proofed in lieu of being elevated provided that together with all attendant utilities 

and sanitary facilities the areas of the structure below the required elevation are 

water tight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, and use 

structural components having the capability or resisting hydrostatic and 

hydrodynamic loads and the effects of buoyancy. A registered professional 

engineer or architect shall review and/or development structural design 

specifications and plans for the construction and shall certify that the design and 

methods or construction are in accordance with acceptable standards of practice 

for meeting the provisions of this sub-section. Such certification shall be provided 

to the Code Enforcement Officer.  



d) Fully Enclosed Areas Below Base Flood Elevation. New construction or 

substantial improvements of Non-Residential buildings not flood proofed and all 

Residential Buildings that include fully enclosed areas formed by foundation and 

other exterior walls below the base flood elevation shall be designed to preclude 

finished living space and designed to allow for the automatic entry and exit of 

flood waters to equalize hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls. Designs for 

complying with this requirement must either be certified by a professional 

engineer or architect and meet the following minimum criteria:  

(i) Provide a minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less 

than one square inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject to 

flooding. Openings shall be on at least two sides of the enclosed area; 

alternatively, an International Code Council Evaluation Service, (ICC-ES) 

certification must be submitted to document that the design of the 

openings will allow for the automatic equalization of hydrostatic flood 

forces on exterior walls, providing the equivalency of 1 square inch per 1 

square foot of enclosed area. The specific provisions that are addressed in 

the certification must include:  

a. A statement certifying that the openings are designed to 

automatically equalize hydrostatic flood loads on exterior walls by 

allowing the automatic entry and exit of floodwaters in accordance 

with the Engineered openings, design requirements below;  

b. Description of the range of flood characteristics tested or 

computed for which the certification is valid, such as rates of rise 

and fall of floodwaters; and  

c. Description of the installation requirements or limitations that, if 

not followed, will void the certification.  

(ii) The bottom of all openings shall be located at, or no higher than one 

foot above, the exterior or interior grade immediately below the opening, 

whichever is higher.  

(iii) Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves or other 

coverings or devices provided they permit the automatic flow of 



floodwaters in both directions. Non-supporting breakaway wall, lattice 

work on mesh screening may be allowed below the base flood elevation 

provided it is not part of the structural support of the building and is 

designed so as to breakaway, under abnormally high tides or wave action, 

without damage to the structural integrity of the building on which it is to 

be used and provided the following design specifications are met: Design 

safe loading resistance of each wall shall not be less than 10 nor more than 

20 pounds per square foot; or if more than 20 pounds per square foot, a 

registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that the design 

wall collapse would result from water load less than that which would 

occur during the base flood event, and the elevated portion of the building 

and supporting foundation system shall not be subject to collapse, 

displacement, or other structural damage due to the effects of wind and 

water loads acting simultaneously on all building components during the 

base flood event. Maximum wind and water loading values to be used in 

this determination shall each have one percent (1%) chance of being 

equaled or exceeded in any given year (100-year mean recurrence 

interval).   

(iv) Mechanical equipment including but not limited to electrical and 

plumbing equipment, HVAC ducts, generators, and air conditioning units 

must be located one foot above the base flood elevation and all utility 

connections below the BFE such as into sewer lines or underground 

electrical conduits must be floodproofed both indoors and outdoors. Duct 

systems and other service equipment is permitted below the elevation 

provided that they are designed and installed to prevent water from 

entering or accumulating within the components and to resist hydrostatic 

and hydrodynamic loads and stresses, including the effects of buoyancy, 

during the occurrence of flooding to the design flood elevation.  

(v) Access to the enclosed area shall be the minimum necessary to allow 

for the parking of vehicles (garage door) or limited storage of maintenance 



equipment used in connection with the premises (standard exterior door) 

or entry to the living area (stairway or elevator).  

e) Floodways: Located within areas of special flood hazard are areas designated 

as floodways. Since the floodway is an extremely hazardous area due to the 

velocity of flood waters which carry debris and potential projectiles and have 

erosion potential, no encroachments including fill, new construction, substantial 

improvements and other developments shall be permitted unless certification 

(with supporting technical data), by a registered professional engineer is provided 

demonstrating, through hydrologic and hydraulic analyses performed in 

accordance with standard engineering practice, that encroachments shall not result 

in any (0.00 feet) increase in flood levels during occurrence of the base flood 

discharge.  

f) Work within a Special Flood Hazard Area, but outside the floodway must not 

result in an increase in the Base Flood Elevation of more than 0.1 foot.  

(12) Coastal High Hazard Areas (VE Zone). Located within the areas of special flood hazard are 

areas designated as Coastal High Hazard Areas (Zone VE). Since these areas have special flood 

hazards associated with high velocity waters, including hurricane wave wash, the following 

provisions shall apply:  

a) All new construction or substantial improvement shall be located landward of 

the reach of the mean high tide;  

b) All new construction or substantial improvement shall be elevated so that the 

bottom of the lowest supporting horizontal member (excluding pilings or 

columns) is located no lower than one (1) foot above the base flood elevation 

level, with all space below the lowest supporting member so as not to impede the 

flow of water; Mechanical equipment including but not limited to electrical and 

plumbing equipment, HVAC ducts, generators, and air conditioning units must be 

located one foot above the base flood elevation and all utility connections below 

the BFE such as into sewer lines or underground electrical conduits must be 

floodproofed both indoors and outdoors; Duct systems and other service 

equipment is permitted below the elevation provided that they are designed and 

installed to prevent water from entering or accumulating within the components 



and to resist hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and stresses, including the 

effects of buoyancy, during the occurrence of flooding to the design flood 

elevation.  

c) All new construction or substantial improvement shall be securely anchored on 

pilings or columns.  

d) All pilings and columns and the attached structures shall be anchored to resist 

floatation collapse and lateral movement due to the effect of wind and water loads 

acting simultaneously on all building components. The anchoring and support 

system shall be designed with wind and water loading values which equal or 

exceed the 100 year mean recurrence interval (one percent annual chance floods 

and winds);  

e) A registered professional engineer or architect shall review and/or develop 

structural design specifications and plans for construction and shall certify that the 

design specifications and methods of construction are in accordance with 

acceptable standards of practice for meeting the provisions  

f) There shall be no fill used as structural support. Non-compacted fill may be 

used around the perimeter of a building for landscaping/aesthetic purposes 

provided the fill will wash out from storm surge, (thereby rendering the building 

free of obstruction) prior to generating excessive loading forces, ramping effects, 

or wave deflection. The Planning Board shall approve design plans for 

landscaping/aesthetic fill only after the applicant has provided an analysis by an 

engineer, architect, and/or soil scientist, which demonstrates that the following 

factors have been fully considered.  

(i) Particle composition of fill material does not have a tendency for 

excessive natural compaction;  

(ii) Volume and distribution of fill will not cause wave deflection to 

adjacent properties; and  

(iii) Slope of fill will not cause wave run-up or ramping.  

g) There shall be no alteration of sand dunes which would increase potential flood 

damage;  



h) Non-supporting breakaway wall, lattice work or mesh screening may be 

allowed below the base flood elevation provided it is not part of the structural 

support of the building and is designed so as to breakaway, under abnormally high 

tides or wave action, without damage to the structural integrity of the building on 

which it is to be used and provided the following design specifications are met.  

(i) Design safe loading resistance of each wall shall not be less than 10 nor 

more than 20 pounds per square foot; or  

(ii) If more than 20 pounds per square foot, a registered professional 

engineer or architect shall certify that the design wall collapse would 

result from a water load less than that which would occur during the base 

flood event, and the elevated portion of the building and supporting 

foundation system shall not be subject to collapse, displacement, or other 

structural damage due to the effects of wind and water loads acting 

simultaneously on all building components during the base flood event. 

Maximum wind and water loading values to be used in this determination 

shall each have a one percent (1%) chance of being equaled or exceeded in 

any given year (100-year recurrence interval).  

j) Prior to construction, plans for any structures that will have breakaway walls, 

lattice work or screening must be submitted to the Code Enforcement Officer for 

approval.  

k) Any alteration, repair, reconstruction or improvement to a structure shall not 

enclose the space below the lowest floor except with breakaway walls, lattice 

work or screening.  

l) The placement of manufactured homes or recreational vehicles is prohibited.  

 

(g) Standards for Subdivision Proposals  

 

In all special flood hazard areas the following requirements shall apply:  

 

(1) All subdivision proposals shall be consistent with the need to minimize flood damage;  



(2) All subdivision proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, 

electrical and water systems located and constructed to minimize flood damage.  

(3) All subdivision proposals shall provide adequate drainage to reduce exposure to flood 

hazards; and  

(4) Base flood elevation data shall be provided for all subdivision proposals and other proposed 

development which are five acres or fifty lots, whichever occurs first, and are located in Zone A.  

 

(h) Variance Procedures:  

 

(1) The Board of Appeals as established by these regulations shall hear and decide appeals and 

requests for variances from the requirements of this section of the regulations.  

(2) The Board of Appeals shall hear and decide appeals when it is alleged this is an error in any 

requirement, decision or determination made by the Code Enforcement Officer in the 

enforcement or administration of this regulation.  

(3) Any person aggrieved by the decision of the Board of Appeals or any person owning land 

which abuts or is within a radius of (100) one hundred feet of the land in question may appeal. 

(4) Specific Situation Variances:  

a) Buildings on Historic Register. Variances may be issued for the reconstruction, 

rehabilitation or restoration of structures listed on the National Register of 

Historic Places on the State Inventory of Historic Places without regard to the 

procedures set forth in the remainder of this section and provided the proposed 

reconstruction, rehabilitation or restoration will not result in the structure losing 

its historical character.  

b) Pre-existing, Small Lot Location. Variances may be issued for new 

construction and substantial improvements to be erected on a lot of one-half acre 

or less in size which is contiguous to and surrounded by lots with existing 

structures constructed below the base flood level. 

c) Functionally Dependent Uses. Variances may be issued for new construction 

and substantial improvements and other development necessary for the conduct of 

a functionally dependent use provided the structure or other development is 



protected by methods that minimize flood damage, creates no additional threat to 

public safety.  

d) Floodway Prohibition. Variances shall not be issued within any designated 

floodway if any increase in flood levels during discharge would result.  

(5) Consideration for Variances. In passing upon such applications the Planning Board shall 

consider all technical evaluations, all relevant factors, all standards specified in other sections of 

this regulation; and  

a) The danger that materials may be swept into other lands to the injury of others;  

b) The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion damage;  

c) The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and 

the effect of such damage on the individual owner;  

d) The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to the 

community;  

e) The necessity of the facility to waterfront location, in the case of a functionally 

dependent facility;  

f) The availability of alternative locations which are not subject to flooding or 

erosion damage for the proposed use;  

g) The compatibility of the proposed use with existing and anticipated 

development;  

h) The relationship of the proposed use to the comprehensive plan and flood plain 

management program for that area;  

i) The safety of access to the property in times of flood for ordinary and 

emergency vehicles;  

j) The expected heights, velocity, direction, rate of rise and sediment transport of 

the flood waters and the effects of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site; 

and  

k) The cost of providing governmental services during and after flood conditions 

including maintenance and repair of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, 

gas, electrical and water systems, and streets and bridges.  



l) Upon consideration of the factors listed above and the purpose of this 

ordinance, the Planning Board may attach such conditions to the granting of 

variances as it deems necessary to further the purpose of this regulation.  

(6) Conditions for Variances  

a) Variances shall only be issued upon a determination that the variance is the 

minimum necessary, considering the flood hazard, to afford relief; and in the 

instance of a historical building, a determination that the variance is the minimum 

necessary as not to destroy the historic character and design of the building.  

b) Variances shall only be issued upon:  

(i) A showing of good and sufficient cause.  

(ii) A determination that failure to grant the variance would result in 

exceptional hardship; and  

(iii) A determination that the granting of a variance will not result in 

increased flood heights, additional threats to public safety, extra-ordinary 

public expense, creation of a nuisance, cause fraud on or victimization of 

the public or conflict with existing local laws or regulations.  

c) Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice 

specifying the difference between base flood elevation and the elevation to which 

the structure is to be built and stating that the cost of the flood insurance will 

commensurate with the increased risk resulting from the reduced lowest floor 

elevation up to amounts as high as $25.00 for $100.00 of insurance coverage.  

d) The Code Enforcement Officer shall maintain the records of all appeal actions 

and report any variances to the Federal Emergency Management Agency upon 

request.  

(i) Penalties for Violation. Violation of the provisions of this regulation or 

failure to comply with any of its requirements, including violation of 

conditions and safeguards established in connection with grants of 

variance or special exceptions, shall constitute a misdemeanor. Any 

person who violates this ordinance or fails to comply with any of its 

requirements shall, upon conviction thereof, be fined not more than 

$250.00 per day if proven done willfully and $100.00 per day if not, or 



imprisoned for not more than 10 days for each day of violation, or both, 

and in addition, shall pay all costs and reasonable legal fees involved in 

the case. Nothing herein contained shall prevent the Town of Kittery from 

taking such other lawful action as is necessary to prevent or remedy any 

violation. 

 

 

 



Memorandum 
 

TO:        Kendra Amaral 
Town Manager 

   
FROM:  Paul McKenney, CMA 
  Municipal Resources, Inc. 

Contracted Assessor 
    

DATE:   September 8, 2020 
 
RE:       Tax Rate Calculation Documents  
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Attached are several schedules in support of the FY21 Tax Rate Calculation.  As you are 
undoubtedly aware, for the first time in seven years the Town of Kittery underwent a 
complete town-wide revaluation of property values. The last full revaluation was done in 
2013 and, as a result, the assessed values of Kittery properties has significantly lagged the 
actual market values of these properties.  As a result, the Town ‘s total taxable valuation 
increased by 39.98%, or $576,623,180.  This new valuation consists of not only market 
changes, but also new growth in the form of construction changes and building permits.   
 
The Personal Property taxable valuation increased by 33.9%, or $8,873,400.  Exhibit A 
highlights the valuation and tax rate comparisons year over year.  If a property was 
valued last year (2019) for $300,000 and increased by the median increase of 40.65%, the 
2020 assessed would be $422,000, the taxes would increase from $5,220.00 to $5,443.80, 
an increase of $223.80 or 4.29%. 
 
Exhibit B highlights the tax rate calculation based on FY21 projected spending and 
anticipated revenues. The minimum tax rate necessary to support Town and school 
operations is $12.80.  It is my suggestion that a rate of $12.90 be selected, which is a 
25.86% decrease from the prior year and will provide for an overlay of $214,712.    
 
Exhibit C presents some additional tax rates and the resulting overlay for discussion 
purposes.  While we can expect to see an increase in abatement requests due to the 
revaluation, our hearing process after new values were announced was robust (468 total 
hearings).   
 
If there is any further information you desire, please let me know.   



 2020-2021 PRIOR YEAR TAX RATE CALCULATION COMPARISON

LINE 2019-2020 2020-2021 $ CHANGE % CHANGE
1 LOCAL TAXABLE RE $1,449,607,093 $2,029,230,273 $579,623,180 39.98%
2 LOCAL TAXABLE PP $26,175,600 $35,049,000 $8,873,400 33.90%
3 TOTAL TAXABLE $1,475,782,693 $2,064,279,273 $588,496,580 39.88%

4a HOMESTEAD EXEMPT VALUATION $22,237,800 $37,111,500 $14,873,700 66.88%
4b HOMESTEAD REIMBURSEMENT $13,898,625 $25,978,050 $12,079,425 86.91%
5a BETE EXEMPT VALUATION* $5,777,100 $11,173,000 $5,395,900 93.40%
5b BETE REIMBURSEMENT $2,888,550 $5,586,500 $2,697,950 93.40%
6 VALUATION BASE $1,492,569,868 $2,095,843,823 $603,273,955 40.42%

7 COUNTY $894,782 $935,000 $40,218 4.49%
8 MUNICIPAL $13,990,115 $13,958,544 -$31,571 -0.23%
9 TIF FINANCING $237,411 $20,135 -$217,276 -91.52%

10 LOCAL EDUCATION $17,918,503 $18,672,378 $753,875 4.21%
11 TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS $33,040,811 $33,586,057 $545,246 1.65%

12 REVENUE SHARING $485,000 $450,000 -$35,000 -7.22%
13 OTHER REVENUES $6,751,713 $6,314,383 -$437,331 -6.48%

14 TOTAL DEDUCTIONS $7,236,713 $6,764,383 -$472,331 -6.53%

15 NET TO BE RAISED $25,804,098 $26,821,675 $1,017,576 3.94%

MIN RATE $17.29 $12.80
MAX RATE $18.15 $13.44

SELECTED RATE $17.40 $12.90 -$4.50 -25.86%
OVERLAY $167,319 $214,712 $47,393.1 28.33%

 TAXES ON $300,000 ASMNT $5,220 $5,444 $223.80 4.29%
 

Assessments of $300,000 for FY 2019-20, & the 
equalized value of $422,000 for FY 2020-21, are 
multiplied by the respective mill rate for a comparison of 
taxes. The equalized value = $300,000 * 1.4065 avg 
increase in valuation = $422,000, rounded; * 0.01290 
mill rate = $5,444 in taxes.                                

9/8/2020 Revised

Exhibit A



2020‐21 KITTERY TAX CALCUATION FORM  9‐8‐20 revised Exhibit B CALCULATION FORM WORKSHEET

LINE

1 LOCAL TAXABLE REAL ESTATE VALUATION $2,029,230,273

2 LOCAL TAXABLE PERSONAL PROPERTY VALUATION $35,049,000

3 TOTAL TAXABLE VALUATION $2,064,279,273

4A TOTAL OF ALL HOMESTEAD EXEMPT VALUATION $37,111,500  
4B HOMESTEAD EXEMPT REIMBURSEMENT VALUE $25,978,050

5A TOTAL OF ALL BETE EXEMPT VALUATION $11,173,000

5B THE STATUTORY STANDARD REIMBURSEMENT FOR 2017 IS 50% $5,586,500

6 TOTAL VALUATION BASE $2,095,843,823
 

ASSESSMENTS

7 COUNTY TAX $935,000

8 MUNICIPAL APPROPRIATION $13,958,544

9 TIF FINANCING PLAN AMOUNT $20,135

10 SCHOOL/EDUCATION APPROPRIATIONS $18,672,378

11 TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS $33,586,057

ALLOWABLE DEDUCTIONS

12 STATE MUNICIPAL REVENUE SHARING $450,000

13 OTHER REVENUES $6,314,384

14 TOTAL DEDUCTIONS  $6,764,384
 

15 NET TO BE RAISED BY LOCAL PROPERTY TAX RATE $26,821,674  

 

16 MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE TAX $26,821,674 1.05 $28,162,757

17 MINIMUM TAX RATE $26,821,674 $2,095,843,823 $0.012798

18 MAXIMUM TAX RATE $28,162,757 $2,095,843,823 $0.013437

19 TAX FOR COMMITMENT $2,064,279,273 $0.01290 $26,629,203

20 MAXIMUM OVERLAY $26,821,674 0.05 $1,341,084

21 HOMESTEAD REIMBURSEMENT $25,978,050 $0.01290 $335,117

22 BETE REIMBURSEMENT $5,586,500 $0.01290 $72,066

23 OVERLAY $27,036,385 $26,821,674 $214,712

EXHIBIT B

FY21 RATE CALCULATION



 2020-2021 TAX RATE - OVERLAY RELATIONSHIP

TAX RATE OVERLAY AMOUNT
EQUATES TO 

ASSESSED VALUE
% OF TOTAL 

TAXABLE ASMNT
$12.90 $214,712 $16,644,327 0.81%
$12.95 $319,504 $24,672,124 1.20%
$13.00 $424,296 $32,638,169 1.58%

9/8/2020

Exhibit C



Bob: 
We are moving to Sentry Hill in York and I will have to resign my 
membership on the Kittery Community Center Board.  Working 
with this group has made me fall in love with Kittery.  I have 
enjoyed and value each and every one of you. 
My best, 
Jean Lincoln 
 


	Blank Page
	Kittery Flood Vulnerability Assessment.pdf
	A town in high water:fLOOD vuLNERABILITY aSSESSMENT fOR kITTERY, mAINE
	Slide Number 2
	Coastal Hazards     Climate Resilience
	Risks In Kittery
	3.9 Ft Slr + SS
	3.9 Ft Slr + SS
	3.9 Ft Slr + SS
	3.9 Ft Slr + SS
	3.9 Ft Slr + SS
	6.1 Ft Slr + SS
	6.1 Ft Slr + SS
	6.1 Ft Slr + SS
	6.1 Ft Slr + SS
	6.1 Ft Slr + SS
	10.9 Ft Slr + SS
	10.9 Ft Slr + SS
	10.9 Ft Slr + SS
	10.9 Ft Slr + SS
	10.9 Ft Slr + SS
	2-Part GIS StoryMaps
	Draft Ordinances
	Key Recommendations 
	Next Steps
	Slide Number 24

	2020.09.14 Tax Commitment.pdf
	ADP39C1.tmp
	Memorandum
	TO:        Kendra Amaral
	Town Manager





